New Ways of Diamondoid Functionalization – A Synthetic Method for the Incorporation of Dispersion Energy Donors into Catalysts and Molecular Balances

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaftlichen Fachbereiche im Fachgebiet Organische Chemie (Fachbereich 08) an der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen

> Vorgelegt von Lukas Peter Ochmann aus Oldenburg (Oldb)

> > Gießen 2023

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde im Zeitraum von November 2017 bis Februar 2022 am Institut für Organische Chemie der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen unter der Anleitung von Herrn Prof. Dr. Peter R. Schreiner, PhD, angefertigt. Damit das Mögliche entsteht, muss immer wieder das Unmögliche versucht werden.

Hermann Hesse

Für meine Familie.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich erkläre: Ich habe die vorgelegte Dissertation selbstständig und ohne unerlaubte fremde Hilfe und nur mit den Hilfen angefertigt, die ich in der Dissertation angegeben habe. Alle Textstellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus veröffentlichten Schriften entnommen sind, und alle Angaben, die auf mündlichen Auskünften beruhen, sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Ich stimme einer evtl. Überprüfung meiner Dissertation durch eine Antiplagiat-Software zu. Bei den von mir durchgeführten und in der Dissertation erwähnten Untersuchungen habe ich die Grundsätze guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis, wie sie in der "Satzung der Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis" niedergelegt sind, eingehalten.

(Ort, Datum)

(Lukas Peter Ochmann)

Dekan:Prof. Dr. Thomas WilkeErstgutacher:Prof. Dr. Peter R. Schreiner, PhDZweitgutachter:Prof. Dr. Richard Göttlich

Eingereicht: August 2023

Abstract

This thesis deals with the selective functionalization of diamondoids and their incorporation in existing catalytic systems as well as molecular balances to quantify London dispersion interactions.

In the first part, we present a new substitution reaction based on the Mitsunobu reaction. This sequence works particularly well for lower diamondoids, like adamantane and diamantane, with high yields and good reaction control. Abundant alcohols react to diphenylphosphinite structures. The corresponding diamondoid based trivalent phosphorous compounds are insensitive towards air and moisture and therefore ideal storable precursors. The reaction of the phosphinites with diisopropylazodicarboxylate as activating agent leads to an intermediate betaine structure. The latter collapses upon protonation by a mildly acidic nucleophile, to a carbocation. This cation is trapped by the deprotonated nucleophile leading to the desired target compound. The reaction sequence is universal for all structures that can form a stabilized carbocation intermediate and works well for a broad variety of pronucleophiles. Therefore it offers the possibility of nearly every C–C or C–heteroatom bond formation reaction. Mechanistic studies underline the formation of a carbocation intermediate, which has not been reported in all redox condensation reactions published so far.

The second part of this thesis deals with a new uniform synthesis concept towards all-*meta* substituted iodobenzenes and anilines. 3,5-Disubstituted catechols serve as starting materials and were synthesized *via* formylation of the corresponding 2,4-disubstituted phenols and subsequent Dakin reaction. After oxidation of the dihydroxybenzenes, the *o*-quinones react in a [4+2] cycloaddition with an alkyne to a bicyclic 1,2-diketone. Final photodecarbonylation with visible light yield the 1,3,5-trisubstituted scaffold which is further manipulated to the desired targets *via* known reactions, e.g., Schmidt reaction. The new type of substituted diamondoid precursors since the corresponding phenol structure was not available and the sequence described before was not applicable to adamantane and diamantane substituted compounds. This underlines the importance of suitable reaction sequences that also enable the incorporation of diamondoids into existing structures.

We applied our new scalable reaction pathway in the synthesis of chiral BINOL-based phosphoric acid catalysts, substituted with all-*meta* adamantyl and diamantyl arenes. In a comparative study, this new bulky catalyst performed equally well in comparison to existing catalysts in the reductive amination reaction of acetophenone and delivers enantiomeric excesses of up to 84% without optimization of the reaction conditions.

Zusammenfassung

Die vorliegende Arbeit beschäftigt sich mit der selektiven Funktionalisierung von Diamantoiden und deren Einarbeitung in bestehende Katalysatorsysteme und Strukturen, die zur Untersuchung von London'schen Dispersionwechselwirkungen genutzt werden.

Im ersten Teil wird eine neuartige Substitutionsreaktion aufbauend auf der bekannten Mitsunobu-Reaktion beschrieben, die vor allem an niederen Diamantoiden hohe Ausbeuten bei einfacher Reaktionsführung bietet. Dabei werden einfach zugängliche Hydroxyverbindungen in eine Diphenylphosphinitstruktur umgewandelt. Ausgehend von Diamantoidalkoholen sind diese trivalenten Phosphorverbindungen nicht oxidationsempfindlich und sind lagerbare universelle Vorstufen. Durch die Reaktion der Phosphinite mit Diisopropylazodicarboxylat als Aktivierungsreagenz bildet sich eine intermediäre Betainstruktur. Diese wird anschließend von einem wenig aziden Nukleophil protoniert. Die protonierte Struktur dissoziiert zum Carbokation, welches vom deprotonierten Nukleophil abgefangen wird und so zur Zielstruktur führt. Die Reaktion ist auf Strukturen anwendbar, die ein stabilisiertes intermediäres Carbokation ausbilden können und funktioniert mit einer Vielzahl an Nukleophilen, sodass nahezu alle Formen einer C–C oder C–Heteroatom Bindungsknüpfung durchgeführt werden können. Mechanistische Studien unterstreichen die Bildung einer kationischen Zwischenstufe, die in allen bisherig veröffentlichten Redoxkondensationsreaktionen nicht berichtet worden ist.

Im zweiten Teil dieser Arbeit wird ein neues Konzept für die universelle Synthese von all-meta substituierten Iodbenzolen sowie Anilinen beschrieben. Als Ausgangsverbindungen dienen hierbei 3,5-substituierte 1,2-Dihydroxybenzole, die über eine Formylierung aus den 2,4substituierten Phenolen zugänglich sind. Eine anschließende Dakin-Reaktion liefert die Zielausgangsverbindung, welche nach Oxidation in einer [4+2] Cycloaddition mit einem Alkinbaustein zu einer bizyklischen 1,2-Dicarbonylstruktur reagiert. Anschließende Photodecarbonylierung mit Licht im sichtbaren Wellenlängenbereich führen zum 1,3,5trisubstituierten Grundgerüst, welches durch literaturbekannte Reaktionen, wie z.B. der Schmidt-Reaktion, in die Zielverbindung überführt wird. Das neue Reaktionskonzept aus dem dieser Arbeit war dabei für die Bildung der 3,5-disubstituierten ersten Teil Diamantoidvorstufen unerlässlich, da hier mangels Phenolvorstufe der oben beschriebene Weg aus Formylierung und Dakin-Reaktion keine Verwendung finden konnte. Dies unterstreicht nochmals die Wichtigkeit geeigneter Synthesewege, die auch bzw. vor allem bei der Einbettung von Diamantoiden in bestehende Strukturen funktionieren.

Die Skalierungsmöglichkeit des neuen Synthesewegs wurde genutzt, um das erste Mal chirale BINOL-basierte Phosporsäurekatalysatoren mit all-*meta* Adamantyl- bzw. Diamantyl-Substitutionsmuster darzustellen. In einer Vergleichsstudie wurde dieser sterisch besonders anspruchsvolle Katalysator bei einer reduktiven Aminierung von Acetophenon eingesetzt und zeigte vergleichbare Enantiomerenüberschüsse zum bisher besten bekannten Katalysator von bis zu 84% in dieser Reaktion.

Contents

Eidesstattliche ErklärungV
Abstract
ZusammenfassungVII
1. Introduction
1.1 Diamondoids
1.2 Redox Condensation Reactions
2. Diamondoids in Catalysis and as Dispersion Energy Donors7
2.1 Catalysts and Ligands7
2.2 Meta-Substitution and Diamondoids – a Perfect Match for London Dispersion?9
3. Perspective
4. Literature
5. Publications
5.1 Functionalization of Diamondoids via a New S _N 1 Redox Condensation
5.2 Synthesis of all- <i>meta</i> Substituted Arenes
6. Appendix
6.1 List of Publications in Peer Reviewed Journals
6.2 Participation in Conferences
7. Acknowledgement

1. Introduction

1.1 Diamondoids

Since their first description^[1] and isolation^[2] of the smallest representative adamantane (1) from crude oil, diamondoids have made their way to a broad application range in all kinds of chemistry for almost a century now. Bearing exceptional properties, i.e., lipophilicity and chemical inertness under physiological conditions,^[3, 4] high rigidity,^[5] and negative electron affinity,^[6] the diamond like structures are found in small molecule drugs,^[7] gas sensors^[8] or as dispersion energy donors (DEDs).^[9, 10] When Stetter published his review about the chemistry of 1 and its structural analogs in 1954,^[11] the first artificial synthesis of small amounts was already published 13 years before by Prelog and Seiwerth.^[12] However, he stated an exceptional status of adamantane chemistry within the field of organic chemistry and forecasted interesting results in this area if new synthetic routes would allow the isolation of larger quantities and the introduction of functional groups.^[11] Hardly surprising, it was Stetter himself who picked up this problem and improved the synthesis of 1 as did von Ragué Schleyer shortly afterwards.^[13, 14] Although the introduction and improvements of new synthetic pathways lead to a reliable source of lower diamondoids diamantane (2),^[15-17] triamantane (3),^[18, 19] and tetramantane (4),^[20] selective functionalization for the intended use is still a problem to date.



Figure 1: Lower diamondoids adamantane, diamantane, tetramantane, and [121] tetramantane.

Diamondoid 1 only bears two different types of C–H bonds, making its functionalization easier in comparison to its higher analogs that contain different tertiary carbon bridgeheads. Selective mono-, di-, tri- and tetrafunctionalizations, especially halogenations, have been described early in literature.^[21-23] Brominated or hydroxylated diamondoids were often used as starting materials for further transformations, e.g., amination *via* Ritter reaction,^[21, 24] carboxylations *via* Koch-Haaf reaction,^[21, 25] or thiolations using thiourea as sulfur source.^[26] All these transformations benefit from the exceptional stability of nanodiamonds as they use strongly acidic media, often incompatible with further functional groups. When it comes to higher diamondoids, side reactions like intermolecular hydride shifts and therefore isomerizations may occur.^[27] Non-acidic transformations often involve radical mechanisms using hydrogen atom transfer reagents to generate diamondoidyl radicals that react with a trapping agent to introduce further functionalities or perform C–C coupling reactions. Many different systems have been presented, especially in the last years in which photoredox catalysis became more and more popular, and a variety of functional groups, i.e., azides,^[28] cyanides,^[29] olefins,^[30] and imines^[31] were attached to a nanodiamond core. Although a radical pathway may be advantageous in terms of functional group tolerance, it introduces several problems in case of regioselectivity and reactivity. As the difference in the bond-dissociation energy for secondary and tertiary C–H bonds in adamantane is fairly close,^[32] and even closer for different tertiary radicals in higher diamondoids,^[33] distinguishability between these sites is challenging and a necessary requirement for the system. In addition, monofunctionalizations are hard to achieve and overreactions may occur. Therefore, the diamondoid is often used in excess which attenuates this problem but lowers practical applicability.^[34, 35]



Figure 2: Functionalization of lower diamondoids via radical or carbocationic intermediates.

The functionalization of diamondoids is essential for their further application in life and material sciences. By far, the pharmaceutical industry already recognized the potential of diamondoid incorporation for biomedical applications. For instance, the adamantane derivatives vildagliptin (5) and saxaglitpin (6) are approved active ingredients of commercial drugs against type 2 diabetes. Amantadine and memantine (7) are widely used in the treatment of influenza, parkinsonism and Alzheimer's disease and some more adamantane containing drugs like adapalene (8), adapromine, bromantane, rimantadine or tromantadine are or have been on the market.^[4, 36]



Figure 3: Commercially available APIs containing *1* vildagliptin, saxagliptin, memantine, and adapalene.

This success has led to broad research activities for biomedical applications. For instance, Crumpton and Santos incorporated diamondoids into the phosphate backbone of DNA *via* click chemistry of the corresponding diamondoid azides.^[37] The diamondoid "doped" DNA showed higher duplex structure stability as well as thermal stability with increasing diamondoid size compared to the unmodified DNA. Bakhonsky *et al.* modified the well-known anti-cancer drug cisplatin (9)^[38] by exchanging the two ammonia ligands for chiral 1,2-diaminodiamantane.^[7] As expected, the diamantane ligand led to a significantly higher lipophilicity compared to plain cisplatin. Cytotoxic assays proved a higher potency of the (*R*,*R*)-1,2-diaminodiamantane modified complex **10**. Furthermore current hot topics like SARS-CoV-2 treatment are tackled by potential diamondoid containing derivatives, potentially using their anti-viral acitivity.^[39]



Figure 4: Anti-cancer drug cisplatin (left) and diamonodid doped cisplatin (right).

With an increasing number of chemical transformations, functionalized diamondoids have been used in interdisciplinary fields of chemistry, physics and engineering. Diamondoid thiols, for example, form self-assembled monolayers (SAM) on gold surfaces that exhibit monochromatic electron photoemission and therefore being potential materials for photocathodes.^[6, 40, 41] By coating these monolayers with graphene, the stability of the SAMs under photo irradiation was further increased, showing the versatility of different carbon modifications.^[42] Hierso and colleagues used the self-assembling properties and the high volatility of **1** and **2** for the formation of diamondoid based organohybrids. Mild vapor deposition techniques allowed them to form well-defined crystals of functionalized diamondoids.^[43] Previous phosphorylation of the hydroxylated diamantane starting material made it possible to layer thin palladium films onto the surface of the self-assembled organic crystals.^[44] The resulting diamondoid-palladium nanocomposite is capable to detect various gases like NO₂ or NH₃ and opens up a potential application in the field of sp³-carbon based gas sensors.^[8]



Figure 5: Schematic representation of an sp³-carbon gas sensor.

Due to the renewable energy transition ("Energiewende") and the increasing demand for (portable) energy storage possibilities, diamondoid based materials were even tested as additives in classic alkali metal based batteries. Previous research had already shown a beneficial effect of diamond-like materials, e.g., in metal-organic frameworks,^[45, 46] but Kreissl *et al.* showed initially that the supplement of pure diamantane amides in the electrolyte of sodium metal anodes is capable to reduce dendrite growth.^[47]

1.2 Redox Condensation Reactions

As early as 1967, Mitsunobu and Yamada first described the esterification of carboxylic acids through alcohol activation by trivalent organic phosphorous compounds, mainly triphenylphosphine (11), and diethylazodicarboxylate (12, DEAD), today known as Mitsunobu reaction.^[48] Releasing an oxidized phosphorous species (13) and a reduced hydrazine type leaving group (14), this was the birth of the so-called oxidation-reduction or redox condensation reactions in organic synthesis. Mitsunobu postulated a reaction mechanism *via* imidoyl phosphonium salt 15 and the corresponding phosphonium carboxylate salt 16. However, Morrison as well as Brunn and Huisgen proposed the formation of a betaine structure. The phosphorous lone pair attacks the electrophilic nitrogen forming a P–N bond in a zwitterionic intermediate.^[49, 50] Later, Guthrie and Jenkins confirmed this now called Morrison-Brunn-Huisgen intermediate 17 by ³¹P-NMR studies.^[51]



Figure 6: Initially proposed mechanism of the first redox condensation reaction by Mitsunobu.

Even though Mitsunobu himself extended the scope of the reaction to the preparation of amines by incorporating parts of the Gabriel synthesis,^[52, 53] it took a few years until this powerful tool of alcohol conversion gained further attention in the organic chemistry community. M. J. Miller *et al.* used **11** and **12** in the synthesis of β -lactam **18** by an intramolecular cyclization of β hydroxyhydroxamate **19**.^[54] Wipf and C. P. Miller expanded the scope to even more strained aziridines implemented in a peptide backbone.^[55] Through the feature of inversion of configuration at the alcohol carbon and the mild conditions, the Mitsunobu reaction also found its way into total synthesis of natural products or prodrugs.^[56-58] These complex, multi-step transformations often require a non-acidic alcohol conversion due to the use of acid-labile protecting groups, such as silyl ethers. In 2001, Miyaoka *et al.* used a Mitsunobu reaction as the key step in their total synthesis of dysidiolide (**20**). The stereogenic center of free allylic alcohol **21** was inverted by simultaneous esterification with propiolic acid to give compound **22**. Subsequent Diels-Alder reaction enabled the construction of the decaline core with correct absolute configuration of the stereogenic centers. In the same year Stork and coworkers used the Mitsunobu reaction for the first stereoselective total synthesis of quinine (**23**). They introduced an azide group on primary alcohol **24** to get enol ether **25**. Later, the group used this azide to build up the aza-bicyclo[2.2.2]octane moiety *via* Staudinger reaction^[59] and substitution reaction.



Figure 7: Selected examples of the Mitsunobu reaction in total synthesis.

For almost 40 years, the Mitsunobu reaction was limited to primary and secondary alcohols and only very few examples on tertiary alcohols were reported in literature, often suffering from low yields due to dehydration reactions.^[60, 61] Notably, Shi *et al.* were able to extend the scope of the stereospecific Mitsunobu reaction to tertiary alcohols in the synthesis of chiral alkyl-aryl ethers at elevated temperatures in the early 2000s.^[62] At the same time, the use of tertiary alcohols in redox condensation reactions became more frequent by some slight modifications by Mukaiyama and coworkers. They converted the hydroxyl group of a tertiary alcohol (26) to the labile trivalent phosphinite structure 27 that reacted with an electron deficient quinone (28, DMBQ) instead of an azo compound in the next step. The intermediate betaine structure, prebuilt by oxidant and reductant,^[50] now already contained the electrophilic center in form of phosphonium salt 29. The nucleophile, a deprotonated benzoic acid derivative, releases the oxidated pentavalent diphenylphosphinate 30 as leaving group *via* backside attack, to furnish

the desired stereoinverted alkyl-aryl ester 31.^[63] Inversion rates were good even for sterically hindered menthol derivatives, but the preparation of phosphinite 27 with *n*-butyllithium as base required a solvent exchange from tetrahydrofuran to dichloromethane in the actual redox condensation reaction.



Figure 8: Mechanistic proposal of the redox condensation reaction for tertiary alcohols with quinone oxidants.

Further modifications of the employed oxidant lead to a variety of nucleophilic substrates as broad as in the classical Mitsunobu reaction itself. Nonetheless, screening of each nucleophile oxidant combination was necessary since undesired cross reactions like addition reactions between nucleophile and oxidant may occur, especially if basic nucleophiles are employed. Huang and Kang partially overcame this problem at least for benzylic alcohols by modifying the trivalent phosphorous species from a diarylphosphinite to diazaphosphite **32**.^[64] By further altering the substituents on the phosphorous center and switching to a different oxidant, they went back to a non-preactivated system, but were still able to use basic amines as pronucleophiles.^[65] Control experiments also confirmed the stereospecifity of this Mitsunobu reaction modification, underlining that this type of reaction almost exclusively proceeds *via* an S_N2-type reaction. The synthesis of the antiparkinsonian agent Piribedil (**33**) in one step in 83% yield demonstrated the power of their modification.



Figure 9: Modified Mitsunobu-type reaction allowing basic pronucleophiles.

In this work, we introduce an oxidation-reduction condensation reaction that exclusively proceeds *via* a carbocation intermediate. The S_N1 -exclusivity is supported by rearrangement reactions and substitution reactions on diamondoid substrates up to triamantane. Various nucleophiles were introduced and a variety of substrates that stabilize an intermediate cation demonstrate generality.^[66]

2. Diamondoids in Catalysis and as Dispersion Energy Donors

2.1 Catalysts and Ligands

Functionalized diamondoids have been implement in ligands for homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts for more than two decades. Especially electron-rich trivalent diadamantyl phosphine ligands have become widely used in homogeneous transition metal catalysis.^[67] Firstly introduced by Buchwald and coworkers in 1999 in the palladium catalyzed preparation of diaryl ethers,^[68] the group of Beller picked up the incorporation of bulky and highly electron donating adamantyl groups into their phosphine ligands a year later. By attachment of one *n*-butyl and two adamantyl groups to a phosphorous core, the authors were able to increase their turnover number (TON) of 50 from the reference system (PPh₃) to 17400 (**34**, BuPAd₂) in the coupling of 4-chlorotoluene and phenylboronic acid.^[69] These impressive initial results on the coupling of non-activated aryl halides led to the synthesis of many adamantyl based phosphorous ligands like **35** and **36**,^[70-72] recently even extended to air and moisture stable diamantyl phosphine and phosphine oxide ligands, i.e. **37**.^[73, 74]



Figure 10: Selected examples of diamondoid containing primary and tertiary phosphine ligands.

Contrary to a palladium metal center, rhodium-(II) catalysts often consist of bidentate carboxylate ligands leading to the general formula $Rh_2(A)_4$. Charette and coworkers demonstrated that catalysts of this type are excellent in the cyclopropanation of alkenes, alkynes, and allenes and $Rh_2(Adc)_4^{[75]}$ (**38**) was usually outperforming other carboxylate ligands.^[76] Despite its high activity, **38** has the drawback of a lacking stereogenic center making it unusable in often desired enantioselective reactions. Reddy and Davies solved this by using tetracarboxylates derived from chiral amino acids, i.e., adamantyl glycine, achieving good enantioselectivities in intra- and intermolecular C–H amination reactions with $Rh_2(S-TCPTAD)$ (**39**).^[77] Berndt *et al.* used a post-functionalization strategy, enabled by the adamantane ligand backbone, to introduce an additional urea moiety leading to bifunctional rhodium(II) complex **40**. This catalyst allows regioselective nitrenoid insertions on farnesol carbamate **41** *via*

hydrogen bonding control.^[78] In this case, adamantane does not solely act as bulky or electron property influencing ligand, but also as a well-defined spacer providing the optimal distance for the second functionality within the catalyst. They were able to invert the intrinsic reactivity of common rhodium catalysts like $Rh_2(esp)_2$ or **38**, which prefer aziridination at site A over B of **41** (1.1 : 1.0 for $Rh_2(esp)_2$ and 1.4 : 1:0 for **38**), to a B site selectivity of 1.0 : 5.0 with catalyst **40**. They attributed this selectivity inversion to remote hydrogen bonding between the urea moiety and carbamate functionality of **41**.



Figure 11: Adamantane based ligands and their application in rhodium catalysis.

Diamondoids also found their way into *N*-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs). Wanzlick predicted this class of reactive intermediates already in 1960,^[79] but only when Arduengo attached adamantane moieties directly to the nitrogen atoms, he was able to crystallize a stable NHC in 1991.^[80] Mol and coworkers used this so called Arduengo carbene **44** for a modification of the Grubbs type II metathesis catalyst (**45**),^[81] but unfortunately the higher thermodynamic and kinetic stability of the diamondoid NHC led to a less active catalyst which was attributed to steric shielding.^[82] The group of Grubbs proved them wrong and demonstrated that slight modifications on the ruthenium catalyst lead to an excellent *Z*-selective metathesis catalyst (**46**) with up to 1000 turnovers per catalyst molecule.^[83] Glorius and Schreiner instead applied a set of different diamondoid NHCs in the palladium catalyzed Sonogashira coupling.^[84] Newly synthesized, more crowded diamantane NHCs performed even better as ligands in this reaction than the well-known adamantane Arduengo carbene.^[85]



Figure 12: Arduengo carbene and adamantane containing metathesis catalysts used by Mol and Grubbs.

Contrary to transition metal catalysis, organocatalysis enables the possibility to include the diamondoid structure directly within the catalyst without adding it as external ligand. NHCs are already known for decades as versatile organocatalysts,^[86] in particular for umpolung reactions.^[87, 88] Song *et al.* demonstrated that **44** is a highly potent organocatalyst in silyl transfer reactions.^[89] Schreiner and coworkers used chiral tetrapeptide **47** with an unnatural amino acid derived from adamantane^[90] in the enantioselective kinetic resolution of 1,2-diols **48**.^[91] The rigid adamantane backbone tends to be crucial for the high selectivity of the catalyst.^[92] The group even refined the tetrapeptide for an application in multicatalytic concepts. The peptide backbone act as structural encoder for an additional catalytic motif that allows tandem reactions, e.g. oxidations, before^[93] or after^[94] kinetic resolution.



Figure 13: Kinetic resolution of 1,2-diols catalyzed by an tetrapeptide with an adamantane backbone.

2.2 *Meta*-Substitution and Diamondoids – a Perfect Match for London Dispersion?

London dispersion represents the attractive part of the van der Waals potential. These forces arise from spontaneously induced dipoles in non or weakly polar atoms or molecules.^[95, 96] Additionally to electron richness and rigidity, the influence of London dispersion interactions on equilibria and the selectivity of chemical transformations lately became a hot topic in the community of physical organic chemists.^[97] Triggered by some exceptional and unpredictable results in the outcome of chemical reactions,^[98] or on the stability of organic molecules,^[99-103] dispersion energy donors (DEDs)^[10] were more and more implemented into catalysts or ligands to alter selectivity or, even more counter-intuitive, to increase their activity. In 2017, Lu *et al.* published a study about well-known SEGPHOS (**49**) ligands modified with DEDs mainly in the *meta*-positions of the coordination site, i.e., DTBM-SEGPHOS (**50**). They ascertained a much higher activity of catalysts with bulky ligands in the copper-catalyzed hydroamination of unactivated olefins compared to those with decreased steric bulk.^[104]

These results were controversial since increased steric bulk should lead to increased steric repulsion which reduces catalytic activity. DFT computations rationalized these findings indicating that attractive through-space dispersion interactions between substrate and ligand lower the transition state energy of the rate-determining hydrocupration step more than repulsive interactions are increasing it. The authors extensively studied further common bidentate phosphorous ligands coming to the result that all investigated ligand families, i.e., MeO-BIPHEP, BINAP, and DPPBz, profit from 3,5-disubstitution and therefore from attractive through-space dispersion interactions between ligand and substrate. Especially additional *tert*-butyl groups led to a significant rate increase in all cases with a very good agreement between predicted and experimentally observed relative reaction rates.



Figure 14: Dispersion interactions in the copper-catalyzed hydroamination reaction of unactivated olefins.

The Hartwig group broadened this concept by increasing dispersion interactions in bidentate phosphine ligands to favor enantioselective transformations. By exchanging the *tert*-butyl groups with trimethylsilyl and trimethylgermanyl groups in the *meta* positions of a very similar ligand system, they were not only able to increase the reactivity of the catalytic system, but even to distinguish between different alkyl chains in the copper-catalyzed hydroboration of 1,1'-disubstituted alkenes.^[105]

Eschmann *et al.* published a detailed investigation on the effect of DEDs in the 3,5-positions of catalytically active systems shortly afterwards. They picked the Corey-Bakshi-Shibata $(CBS)^{[106]}$ reduction as a model system and increased steric bulk in the *meta* positions of Corey's standard oxazaborolidine (OXB) catalyst. Based on Corey's rationalization of its selectivity based on steric repulsion, the activity should have dropped significantly by increasing steric bulk on the aryl groups of the OXB. Surprisingly, the enantiomeric excess, i.e., in the CBS reduction of 2-butanone or 2-pentanone, increased by bulkier substituents on the aryl substituents of the catalyst without a negative effect on the reaction rates.^[107] The influence of London dispersion interactions was additionally proven by attachment of trifluoromethyl groups instead of alkyl groups in the carbinol substituents of the oxazaborolidine. Attractive σ - π interactions were reduced by strongly electron withdrawing fluorine substituents leading to a massive drop in enantioselectivity during reduction.



Figure 15: Dispersion interactions as decisive factor in the CBS-reduction of ketones with similar alkyl chains.

The examination of molecular balances allow a deeper understanding of these described effects. Molecular balances are microscopic structures, often single molecules with limited conformational flexibility, that allow the quantification of non-covalent interactions by the free energy differences of their different conformers.^[108, 109] Schweighauser *et al.* investigated the E/Z equilibrium of azobenzene switches depending on the attached DEDs in the *meta* positions. The half-lives of the Z-isomer of the considered azobenzenes increased with more crowded and more polarizable substituents in the 3,5-positions, leading to a rate decrease of the Z to E isomerization. The experimentally measured free energies were in good alignment with computations at a dispersion corrected B3LYP-D3 level of theory, whereas applying uncorrected B3LYP lead to misleading, thus, wrong results.^[110] This system shows that the

change from *tert*-butyl to more polarizable adamantyl groups can have a significant effect. The measured Z-isomer half-life of the all-*meta* adamantyl substituted azobenzene almost doubled in *n*-octane compared to its *tert*-butyl analogue. This promising result emphasizes that *tert*-butyl substituents are not the end of the road when it comes to stabilizing dispersion interactions from *meta*-substituted arenes.



Figure 16: Molecular azobenzene balance substituted with DEDs in meta-positions.

Furthermore, these findings were contrary to the popular opinion that London dispersion vanishes in systems where solvent interactions come into play.^[111] Schreiner and coworkers demonstrated later that intramolecular London dispersion interactions do not cancel in solution.^[112] Rummel *et al.* transferred this concept to the conformational analysis of thiourea derivatives. By attaching DEDs again to the *meta* positions of bisaryl thioureas, it was possible to lower the energies of the *syn-syn* conformers and therefore shift the equilibrium towards the sterically more hindered isomers of the molecule.^[113] DFT computations at the B3LYP-D3(BJ)/def2-TZVPP level of theory showed a decrease in distance of the shortest σ - σ contacts in the lowest energy conformers, indicating that the *syn-anti* and *syn-syn* conformer of **51** might benefit from London dispersion interactions. Cryogenic ¹H-NMR measurements proved a higher population of the *syn-syn* conformer within their investigated homologous series of dispersion energy donor substituted thioureas (H, Me, Et, [/]Pr, 'Bu). This supports the hypothesis that bulky substituents will shift the equilibrium to the more crowded conformer due to their ability to contribute as attractive forces.



Figure 17: Anti-anti, syn-anti, and syn-syn conformers of 51 with their shortest σ - σ distances.

The Gschwind group expanded this concept to an organocatalytic system. Goodman and Gschwind showed in previous work that the reaction rate and the enantioselectivity of chiral BINOL-phosphoric acid catalyzed Hantzsch ester hydrogenation of imines is highly dependent on the energy levels of four types of competing transition states which they called type $E_{\rm I}, E_{\rm II}$, Z_{I} , and Z_{II} . While type E_{I} and Z_{II} lead to an S-configuration of the final amine, Z_{I} and E_{II} will lead to an R-configuration in the product. Influencing the energy levels will impact the reaction rate as well as the enantioselective outcome of the reaction which was already demonstrated by Gschwind through irradiation of the reaction mixture by UV-light ($\lambda = 365$ nm) to populate the Z-ketimine structure.^[114, 115] A similar influence was possible by attachment of bulky *tert*-butyl groups as DEDs and therefore stabilization of the Z-imine in the ground state. In this case, $E_{\rm I}$ and $Z_{\rm I}$ type are predominantly in operation having a direct influence on the stereochemical outcome of the reaction. A higher population of the Z-imine results in a Z_I pathway whereas the E-imine favors type E_{I} . Strong dispersion energy donors made it possible to shift the equilibrium of the CPA-imine complex in favor of the Z-isomer and reach excellent enantioselectivities up to 99%. Again, the all-meta substitution pattern was the most effective in maximizing stabilizing interactions.^[116]



Figure 18: Dispersion interactions as key factor in enantioselective organocatalyzed hydroaminations.

Rösel *et al.* used DEDs to stabilize the labile molecule hexaphenylethane,^[117] which was mistakenly introduced by Gomberg in 1900.^[118] Already predicted by Schreiner and Grimme, this molecular system is counterintuitively stabilized by increased steric bulk.^[100] The London dispersion forces by additional substituents in the *meta*-positions of the molecule's arenes add up to overcompensate repulsive interactions, making the molecule more stable and even observable in solution, which was demonstrated for the *tert*-butyl and the adamantyl derivative (**52**). While investigating several groups for their ability to act as DED including Me, ⁱPr, ⁱBu, Ad, Cy, and Ph, it manifested that spherical rather than flat substituents contributed with stronger interactions, making them a better choice in most cases when it comes to stabilization *via* London dispersion interactions.

This does not only apply intramolecularly, but also intermolecularly, which was demonstrated at the "monomeric" triphenylmethane system enabling the shortest intermolecular hydrocarbon H–H contact of 1.566 Å in 2017.^[119] Normally, such short H–H contacts predominantly occur intramolecularly where the configuration of the molecule make these "collisions" unavoidable.^[120] In this special case, stabilizing non-covalent interactions between the *tert*-butyl groups of triphenylmethane derivative **53** lead to a spontaneous close head-to-head contact of the two terminal hydrogen atoms. This is not only applicable to pure hydrocarbon systems. Holtrop *et al.* showed that frustrated Lewis pairs^[121] of triarylamine and triarylborane are stabilized in the same manner like their triphenylmethane counterpart.^[122]



Figure 19: London dispersion enabling short intermolecular H-H contact as well as hexaphenylethane evidence.

The group of Fürstner introduced stabilizing dispersion energy donors into their bismuthrhodium paddlewheel catalysts. One key factor for these types of catalysts is a well-defined chiral calyx, formed by the *N*-phthalimido part of the ligand system. Several groups made improvements towards a more confined binding-site by replacing one rhodium atom of the former dirhodium complexes by bismuth, giving highly active and enantioselective heterobimetallic catalysts like **54**.^[123, 124] Changes on the ligand system are often made with the objective to increase enantioselectivity by increased steric bulk, negatively affecting the activity of the catalyst. To circumvent this problem, the Fürstner group envisioned an improved ligand design based on attractive London dispersion interactions. Replacement of the *tert*-butyl group of **54** by an all-*meta* tri-*iso*-propyl-silyl (TIPS) substituted phenyl ring brings multiple noncovalent attractive interactions in the ligand backbone, leading to a catalyst with a more confined chiral calyx (**55**). Addition of an extra *tert*-butyl group at the *N*-phthalimido residue further increases possible non-covalent interactions. Indeed, Fürstner and coworkers were able to demonstrate an increase in enantioselectivity in the [2+1] cycloaddition reaction between carbene precursor **57** and styrene. Whereas **54** gives an enantiomeric excess (*ee*) of only 58%, "dispersion improved" catalyst **55** yield the desired product **58** with an *ee* of 91%. Superior catalyst **56** added additional 7% *ee*, demonstrating that London dispersion is a powerful tool in catalyst/ligand design. DFT computations (def2-SVP level of theory) validated that the TIPS groups are accountable for 32% of total dispersion energy in the molecule while the *tert*-butyl groups add not negligible 12%. Most importantly, the high activity of the cyclopropanation catalysts did not suffer from the modifications made on the ligand, which they demonstrated by low catalyst loadings down to 0.005 mol% while maintaining full conversion of the substrate under reference conditions. Further 32 examples in [2+1] cycloaddition reactions always showed an outperformance of **56** over **54** with former inaccessible high enantiomeric excesses of up to 99%.^[125]



Increased London dispersion interactions in the catalyst ligand system



Figure 20: DED-doped bismuth-rhodium complex for increased enantioselectivity in cyclopropanations.

Schoenebeck and coworkers chose a different route for the investigation of London dispersion in transition metal catalysis. Their selective *ortho*-functionalization of adamantyl arenes enables direct implementation of lipophilic tails into medically relevant compounds *via* crosscoupling reaction. They introduced an adamantane moiety at the positon *ortho* to a bromide residue of their starting material. The latter performed Negishi type coupling reaction only addressed the sterically hindered site of the molecules and left other less sterically hampered reactive sites like triflates or chlorides untouched. This can be explained by an stabilization of the transition state for the oxidative addition by London dispersion interactions between the *tert*-butyl groups of the palladium catalyst's ligand and the adamantane framework in *ortho*-position of the substrate.^[9] This example proves that the effect of London dispersion interactions is not necessarily connected to *meta*-substituents, even though an empirical accumulation is observed in certain systems.



Figure 21: Selective ortho-functionalization by cross-coupling facilitated by London dispersion interactions.

Nonetheless, the decisive influence of non-covalent interactions can be found in many other instances, even in cases that were believed as being well understood, for example, the A-values for cyclohexyl derivatives.^[126, 127] Wilming *et al.* shifted the equilibrium of a 2,2'-disubstitued 9,9'-bifluorenylidenes system (**59**) with the attachment of various DEDs. Even though the authors showed with symmetry-adapted perturbation theory that the dispersion energy theoretically increases by implementation of very bulky adamantane and diamantane residues in 2 and 2' positions, the spatial proximity of the substituents in the folded state of this molecule led also to a distinct increase of repulsive interactions that cannot always be compensated by London dispersion. However, in this case the cyclohexyl moiety seemed to perfectly fit the requirements of this molecular balance system outperforming all other DEDs when it comes to Z/E ratio. ^[128]



Figure 22: Equilibrium of a bifluorenylidene balance influenced by DEDs in 2,2'-positions.

König *et al.* and Schümann *et al.* gained further insights by investigation of a disubstituted cyclooctratetraene balance system.^[129, 130] Firstly introduced by Streitwieser and coworkers in 1981, the unusual equilibrium between the 1,4 (or unfolded) and 1,6 (or folded) conformer was a topic of interest. Unexpectedly, the folded conformer was favored over the unfolded one, as observed during ¹H-NMR experiments. Streitwieser and Paquette rationalized that the *tert*-butyl group had to be positioned at the edge of steric repulsion so that the more congested isomer is

still in favor. Additionally they already speculated about attractive intramolecular van der Waals forces shifting the equilibrium towards the crowded 1,6-conformer.^[131-133] König and Schümann connected the equilibrium between the unfolded 1,4- and the folded 1,6-isomer to the dispersion energy contribution of the substituents showing that bulky silyl groups or diamondoids as DEDs are important contributors in the shift of the equilibrium to the folded state.



Figure 23: COT-balance containing lower diamondoids for increased London dispersion interactions.

For this study, especially the incorporation of lower diamondoids 1 and 2 was a significant obstacle since appropriate precursors comparable to the *tert*-butyl system were not available to date. By implementation of our recently published method for the generation of carbocations, which works particularly well for diamondoids, the generation of the desired 3,6-diamondoid substituted *ortho*-hydroquinones **60** was facile and reproducible. Starting from adamantyl diphenylphosphinite **61**, direct alkylation of readily available 1,2-dihydroxybenzene **62** was achieved. Although the 3,5-alkylated isomer was the main product, sufficient amounts of **60** were accessible and separable even on gram-scale. After oxidation, the corresponding *ortho*-

quinone 63 reacted in a [4+2] cycloaddition with cyclobutadiene to cyclic structure 64 that, upon irradiation with blue light ($\lambda = 450$ nm), decarbonylates and undergoes electrocyclic ring opening to yield a mixture of the desired COT isomers (65). The van der Waals contact between hydrogen atoms within the substituents of disubstituted COT 65 is around 2.5 Å and therefore in the ideal range of the delicate equilibrium between steric repulsion and dispersive attractive interactions.^[134]

Mollenhauer and colleagues demonstrated that stabilization of molecules by London dispersion interactions is not only applicable if bulky substituents like diamondoids are attached in the periphery of various molecules, but also if materials have an adamantane-like core structure,^[135] which might be interesting for tuning the physical properties of such compounds.^[136] Within their theoretical study, they systematically investigated the contribution of medium- and long-range dispersion interactions to the binding energy of inorganic and organic cluster dimers, e.g., AdMe₄ (**66**), AdPh₄ (**67**), and AdNP₄ (**68**). They demonstrated that dispersion energy contributions increase with increasing substituent size, which can mainly be attributed to increasing core-substituent and substituent-substituent interactions.



Figure 24: Organic molecular cluster materials with general structure AdR₄.

In this work we present a general method for the funtionalization of lower diamondoids with various nucleophiles. This strategy allows the incorporation of diamondoid structures into natural as well as artificial systems, e.g., giving access to important precursors for the synthesis of double *meta*-substituted iodobenzenes and anilines. These structures are important building blocks for the construction of systems or catalysts that benefit from London dispersion interactions. So far, the attached DEDs were often limited to *tert*-butyl or bulky silyl groups. Our work expands the limits of highly available DEDs by a general method for diamondoid substituted all-*meta* arenes to push boundaries in catalyst design and molecular balances.^[137]

3. Perspective

The mild functionalization of diamondoids *via* redox condensation may provide facile access to different structures in the field of material science. For instance, Langhals and coworkers connected the two chromophores benzoperylenetriscarboximide and perylenecarboximide by a rigid diamantane core to investigate the Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET)^[138] in such dyads.^[139] They used the corresponding anhydrides **69** and **70** as well as 4,9-diaminodiamantane 1 in a condensation reaction to prepare their desired donor acceptor substituted diamantane linked dyad **72**. In comparison to, e.g., a bicyclo[2.2.2]octane linker, they had to run the reaction at 230 °C for 3 h to get reasonable amounts of **72**, but still the yield of the reaction was very low only achieving 3% of the target compound. Furthermore, the reaction temperature had to be increased beyond 150 °C, which is on the edge of stability for many organic compounds.



Figure 25: Synthesis of a dye with a stiff diamantane linker between the chromophores.

Since our newly developed method allows the functionalization of diamondoids in high yields already at room temperature in neutral media, previously excluded labile structural motifs can now be connected to diamondoids, making use of their exceptional properties in the future. Diamondoid containing bioactive molecules do not longer have to be built by a bottom-up principle, but direct alkylation at suitable nucleophilic positions is possible. This might even effect retrosynthetic planning in total synthesis, a field in which late stage functionalization of complex molecules is highly appreciated.

In addition, the high-volume access to diamondoid containing and therefore rigid, polarizable and bulky end-groups opens up further improvements in reactions in which London dispersion represents the decisive factor in controlling selectivity and/or reactivity. To date, limited synthetic access to these building blocks only allowed theoretical or conceptual studies and, e.g., catalyst improvement could not be tackled. We hope that our promising initial results act as a starting point in this research field and further theoretical understanding will be supported by experimental evidence.

Research topics not attributed to London dispersion or catalysis might also directly profit from the incorporation of all-*meta* diamondoid substituted arenes. Until 1985, only two allotropes of carbon were known, namely diamond and graphite.^[140] Discovery of C₆₀-buckminsterfullerene led to intense studies on further carbon allotropes, including, e.g., graphene^[141] and carbyne, a linear chain consisting of sp-hybridized carbons. The latter is often modelled by oligoynes capped by bulky endgroups,^[142, 143] stabilizing this labile molecule.^[144] The loss of the endgroup effect by increased alkyne chain length emphasizes the necessity of new capping groups providing additional stability to monodisperse polyynes.^[145] Here, all-*meta* diamondoid substituted arene substituents might be a rational way to increase the possible chain length of oligoyne structures.



Figure 26: Air and moisture stable oligoynes as models on the way to the elusive carbon allotrope carbyne.

4. Literature

- [1] H. Decker, Angew. Chem. **1924**, *37*, 781-822.
- [2] S. Landa, V. Macháček, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1933, 5, 1-5.
- [3] S. H. Pun, M. E. Davis, *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2002**, *13*, 630-639.
- [4] L. Wanka, K. Iqbal, P. R. Schreiner, *Chem. Rev.* 2013, 113, 3516-3604.
- [5] H. Schwertfeger, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 1022-1036.
- [6] W. L. Yang, J. D. Fabbri, T. M. Willey, J. R. I. Lee, J. E. Dahl, R. M. K. Carlson, P. R. Schreiner, A. A. Fokin, B. A. Tkachenko, N. A. Fokina, W. Meevasana, N. Mannella, K. Tanaka, X. J. Zhou, T. van Buuren, M. A. Kelly, Z. Hussain, N. A. Melosh, Z.-X. Shen, *Science* 2007, *316*, 1460-1462.
- [7] V. V. Bakhonsky, A. A. Pashenko, J. Becker, H. Hausmann, H. J. M. De Groot, H. S. Overkleeft, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, *Dalton Trans.* **2020**, *49*, 14009-14016.
- [8] O. Moncea, J. Casanova-Chafer, D. Poinsot, L. Ochmann, C. D. Mboyi, H. O. Nasrallah,
 E. Llobet, I. Makni, M. El Atrous, S. Brandès, Y. Rousselin, B. Domenichini, N. Nuns,
 A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, J.-C. Hierso, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2019, *58*, 9933-9938.
- [9] I. Kalvet, K. Deckers, I. Funes-Ardoiz, G. Magnin, T. Sperger, M. Kremer, F. Schoenebeck, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 7721-7725.
- [10] S. Grimme, R. Huenerbein, S. Ehrlich, *ChemPhysChem* **2011**, *12*, 1258-1261.
- [11] H. Stetter, Angew. Chem. 1954, 66, 217-229.
- [12] V. Prelog, R. Seiwerth, Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1941, 74, 1644-1648.
- [13] H. Stetter, O.-E. Bänder, W. Neumann, Chem. Ber. 1956, 89, 1922-1926.
- [14] P. von Ragué Schleyer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 3292-3292.
- [15] C. Cupas, P. von Ragué Schleyer, D. J. Trecker, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 917-918.
- [16] I. L. Karle, J. Karle, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 918-920.
- [17] T. M. Gund, V. Z. Williams, E. Osawa, P. von Ragué Schleyer, *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1970**, *11*, 3877-3880.
- [18] V. Z. Williams, Jr., P. von Ragué Schleyer, G. J. Gleicher, L. B. Rodewald, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 3862-3863.
- [19] F. S. Hollowood, M. A. McKervey, R. Hamilton, J. J. Rooney, *J. Org. Chem.* **1980**, *45*, 4954-4958.
- [20] W. Burns, M. A. McKervey, T. R. B. Mitchell, J. J. Rooney, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 906-911.
- [21] H. Stetter, M. Schwarz, A. Hirschhorn, Chem. Ber. 1959, 92, 1629-1635.
- [22] H. Stetter, C. Wulff, *Chem. Ber.* **1960**, *93*, 1366-1371.
- [23] G. L. Baughman, J. Org. Chem. 1964, 29, 238-240.
- [24] A. A. Fokin, A. Merz, N. A. Fokina, H. Schwertfeger, S. L. Liu, J. E. P. Dahl, R. K. M. Carlson, P. R. Schreiner, *Synthesis* **2009**, 909-912.
- [25] N. A. Fokina, B. A. Tkachenko, J. E. Dahl, R. M. Carlson, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, *Synthesis* **2012**, *44*, 259-264.
- [26] B. A. Tkachenko, N. A. Fokina, L. V. Chernish, J. E. P. Dahl, S. Liu, R. M. Carlson, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, *Org. Lett.* 2006, *8*, 1767-1770.
- [27] T. M. Gund, M. Nomura, P. von Ragué Schleyer, J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 2987-2994.
- [28] K. A. Margrey, W. L. Czaplyski, D. A. Nicewicz, E. J. Alexanian, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140, 4213-4217.
- [29] J.-P. Berndt, F. R. Erb, L. Ochmann, J. Beppler, P. R. Schreiner, *Synlett* **2019**, *30*, 493-498.
- [30] H.-B. Yang, A. Feceu, D. B. C. Martin, ACS Catal. 2019, 9, 5708-5715.

- [31] W. K. Weigel, H. T. Dang, H.-B. Yang, D. B. C. Martin, *Chem. Commun.* **2020**, *56*, 9699-9702.
- [32] G. H. Kruppa, J. L. Beauchamp, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2162-2169.
- [33] A. A. Fokin, B. A. Tkachenko, P. A. Gunchenko, D. V. Gusev, P. R. Schreiner, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2005**, *11*, 7091-7101.
- [34] S. Kamijo, T. Hoshikawa, M. Inoue, Org. Lett. 2011, 13, 5928-5931.
- [35] W. K. Weigel, H. T. Dang, A. Feceu, D. B. C. Martin, Org. Biomol. Chem. 2022, 20, 10-36.
- [36] S. L. Johnston, Virus Res. 2001, 82, 147-152.
- [37] J. B. Crumpton, W. L. Santos, Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 2018-2020.
- [38] B. Rosenberg, *Cancer* **1985**, *55*, 2303-2316.
- [39] C. Tzitzoglaki, K. McGuire, P. Lagarias, A. Konstantinidi, A. Hoffmann, N. A. Fokina, C. Ma, I. P. Papanastasiou, P. R. Schreiner, S. Vázquez, M. Schmidtke, J. Wang, D. D. Busath, A. Kolocouris, ACS Chem. Biol. 2020, 15, 2331-2337.
- [40] T. M. Willey, J. D. Fabbri, J. R. I. Lee, P. R. Schreiner, A. A. Fokin, B. A. Tkachenko, N. A. Fokina, J. E. P. Dahl, R. M. K. Carlson, A. L. Vance, W. Yang, L. J. Terminello, T. v. Buuren, N. A. Melosh, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 10536-10544.
- [41] S. Roth, D. Leuenberger, J. Osterwalder, J. E. Dahl, R. M. K. Carlson, B. A. Tkachenko, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, M. Hengsberger, *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2010, 495, 102-108.
- [42] H. Yan, K. T. Narasimha, J. Denlinger, F. H. Li, S.-K. Mo, J. N. Hohman, J. E. P. Dahl, R. M. K. Carlson, B. A. Tkachenko, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, Z. Hussain, Z.-X. Shen, N. A. Melosh, *Nano Lett.* **2018**, *18*, 1099-1103.
- [43] M. A. Gunawan, D. Poinsot, B. Domenichini, C. Dirand, S. Chevalier, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, J.-C. Hierso, *Nanoscale* 2015, 7, 1956-1962.
- [44] M. A. Gunawan, O. Moncea, D. Poinsot, M. Keskes, B. Domenichini, O. Heintz, R. Chassagnon, F. Herbst, R. M. K. Carlson, J. E. P. Dahl, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, J.-C. Hierso, Adv. Funct. Mater. 2018, 28, 1705786.
- [45] K. Saravanan, M. Nagarathinam, P. Balaya, J. J. Vittal, J. Mater. Chem. 2010, 20, 8329-8335.
- [46] Y.-Y. Wang, M. Zhang, S.-L. Li, S.-R. Zhang, W. Xie, J.-S. Qin, Z.-M. Su, Y.-Q. Lan, *Chem. Commun.* 2017, 53, 5204-5207.
- [47] J. J. A. Kreissl, D. Langsdorf, B. A. Tkachenko, P. R. Schreiner, J. Janek, D. Schröder, *ChemSusChem* **2020**, *13*, 2661-2670.
- [48] O. Mitsunobu, M. Yamada, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1967, 40, 2380-2382.
- [49] D. Morrison, J. Org. Chem. 1958, 23, 1072-1074.
- [50] E. Brunn, R. Huisgen, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1969, 8, 513-515.
- [51] R. D. Guthrie, I. D. Jenkins, Aust. J. Chem. 1982, 35, 767-774.
- [52] O. Mitsunobu, M. Wada, T. Sano, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 679-680.
- [53] S. Gabriel, Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1887, 20, 2224-2236.
- [54] M. J. Miller, P. G. Mattingly, M. A. Morrison, J. F. Kerwin, Jr., *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1980**, *102*, 7026-7032.
- [55] P. Wipf, C. P. Miller, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1992, 33, 6267-6270.
- [56] H. Miyaoka, Y. Kajiwara, Y. Hara, Y. Yamada, J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 1429-1435.
- [57] G. Stork, D. Niu, A. Fujimoto, E. R. Koft, J. M. Balkovec, J. R. Tata, G. R. Dake, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3239-3242.
- [58] E. J. Corey, A. X. Huang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 710-714.
- [59] H. Staudinger, J. Meyer, *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1919**, *2*, 635-646.
- [60] R. Sankara Subramanian, K. Kuppusamy Balasubramanian, *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 2297-2300.
- [61] H. Brunner, P. Hankofer, B. Treittinger, Chem. Ber. 1990, 123, 1029-1038.

- [62] Y.-J. Shi, D. L. Hughes, J. M. McNamara, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44, 3609-3611.
- [63] T. Mukaiyama, T. Shintou, K. Fukumoto, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10538-10539.
- [64] H. Huang, J. Y. Kang, Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 544-547.
- [65] H. Huang, J. Y. Kang, J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 6604-6614.
- [66] L. Ochmann, M. L. Kessler, P. R. Schreiner, Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464.
- [67] K. A. Agnew-Francis, C. M. Williams, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2016, 358, 675-700.
- [68] A. Aranyos, D. W. Old, A. Kiyomori, J. P. Wolfe, J. P. Sadighi, S. L. Buchwald, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 4369-4378.
- [69] A. Zapf, A. Ehrentraut, M. Beller, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4153-4155.
- [70] S. R. Stauffer, N. A. Beare, J. P. Stambuli, J. F. Hartwig, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 4641-4642.
- [71] C. A. Fleckenstein, H. Plenio, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2010**, *39*, 694-711.
- [72] L. Chen, P. Ren, B. P. Carrow, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 6392-6395.
- [73] O. Moncea, M. A. Gunawan, D. Poinsot, H. Cattey, J. Becker, R. I. Yurchenko, E. D. Butova, H. Hausmann, M. Šekutor, A. A. Fokin, J.-C. Hierso, P. R. Schreiner, J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 8759-8769.
- [74] O. Moncea, D. Poinsot, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, J.-C. Hierso, *ChemCatChem* 2018, 10, 2915-2922.
- [75] T. D. Nelson, Z. J. Song, A. S. Thompson, M. Zhao, A. DeMarco, R. A. Reamer, M. F. Huntington, E. J. J. Grabowski, P. J. Reider, *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1877-1881.
- [76] V. N. G. Lindsay, D. Fiset, P. J. Gritsch, S. Azzi, A. B. Charette, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 1463-1470.
- [77] R. P. Reddy, H. M. L. Davies, Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 5013-5016.
- [78] J.-P. Berndt, Y. Radchenko, J. Becker, C. Logemann, D. R. Bhandari, R. Hrdina, P. R. Schreiner, *Chem. Sci.* **2019**, *10*, 3324-3329.
- [79] H.-W. Wanzlick, E. Schikora, Angew. Chem. 1960, 72, 494-494.
- [80] A. J. Arduengo, III, R. L. Harlow, M. Kline, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 361-363.
- [81] M. Scholl, T. M. Trnka, J. P. Morgan, R. H. Grubbs, *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 2247-2250.
- [82] M. B. Dinger, P. Nieczypor, J. C. Mol, Organometallics 2003, 22, 5291-5296.
- [83] B. K. Keitz, K. Endo, P. R. Patel, M. B. Herbert, R. H. Grubbs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 693-699.
- [84] K. Sonogashira, Y. Tohda, N. Hagihara, Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 16, 4467-4470.
- [85] H. Richter, H. Schwertfeger, P. R. Schreiner, R. Fröhlich, F. Glorius, Synlett 2009, 193-197.
- [86] D. Enders, O. Niemeier, A. Henseler, Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5606-5655.
- [87] F. Wöhler, J. Liebig, Ann. Pharm. 1832, 3, 249-282.
- [88] D. Seebach, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1979, 18, 239-258.
- [89] J. J. Song, Z. Tan, J. T. Reeves, D. R. Fandrick, N. K. Yee, C. H. Senanayake, Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 877-880.
- [90] L. Wanka, C. Cabrele, M. Vanejews, P. R. Schreiner, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2007, 2007, 1474-1490.
- [91] C. E. Müller, L. Wanka, K. Jewell, P. R. Schreiner, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 6180-6183.
- [92] C. B. Shinisha, R. B. Sunoj, Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 3242-3245.
- [93] C. Hofmann, S. M. M. Schuler, R. C. Wende, P. R. Schreiner, *Chem. Commun.* 2014, 50, 1221-1223.
- [94] C. E. Müller, R. Hrdina, R. C. Wende, P. R. Schreiner, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 6309-6314.
- [95] R. Eisenschitz, F. London, Z. Phys. 1930, 60, 491-527.

- [96] F. London, Z. Phys. 1930, 63, 245-279.
- [97] J. P. Wagner, P. R. Schreiner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 12274-12296.
- [98] H. Aikawa, Y. Takahira, M. Yamaguchi, *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 1479-1481.
- [99] M. Stein, W. Winter, A. Rieker, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1978, 17, 692-694.
- [100] S. Grimme, P. R. Schreiner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 12639-12642.
- [101] S. Rösel, C. Balestrieri, P. R. Schreiner, Chem. Sci. 2017, 8, 405-410.
- [102] P. R. Schreiner, L. V. Chernish, P. A. Gunchenko, E. Y. Tikhonchuk, H. Hausmann, M. Serafin, S. Schlecht, J. E. P. Dahl, R. M. K. Carlson, A. A. Fokin, *Nature* 2011, 477, 308-311.
- [103] A. A. Fokin, L. V. Chernish, P. A. Gunchenko, E. Y. Tikhonchuk, H. Hausmann, M. Serafin, J. E. P. Dahl, R. M. K. Carlson, P. R. Schreiner, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 13641-13650.
- [104] G. Lu, R. Y. Liu, Y. Yang, C. Fang, D. S. Lambrecht, S. L. Buchwald, P. Liu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 16548-16555.
- [105] Y. Xi, B. Su, X. Qi, S. Pedram, P. Liu, J. F. Hartwig, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2020, 142, 18213-18222.
- [106] E. J. Corey, R. K. Bakshi, S. Shibata, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5551-5553.
- [107] C. Eschmann, L. Song, P. R. Schreiner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2021, 60, 4823-4832.
- [108] I. K. Mati, S. L. Cockroft, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39, 4195-4205.
- [109] S. Paliwal, S. Geib, C. S. Wilcox, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4497-4498.
- [110] L. Schweighauser, M. A. Strauss, S. Bellotto, H. A. Wegner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 13436-13439.
- [111] L. Yang, C. Adam, G. S. Nichol, S. L. Cockroft, Nat. Chem. 2013, 5, 1006-1010.
- [112] J. M. Schümann, J. P. Wagner, A. K. Eckhardt, H. Quanz, P. R. Schreiner, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2021, 143, 41-45.
- [113] L. Rummel, M. H. J. Domanski, H. Hausmann, J. Becker, P. R. Schreiner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2022, 61, e202204393.
- [114] L. Simón, J. M. Goodman, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 8741-8747.
- [115] P. Renzi, J. Hioe, R. M. Gschwind, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 6752-6760.
- [116] J. Gramüller, M. Franta, R. M. Gschwind, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2022, 144, 19861-19871.
- [117] S. Rösel, J. Becker, W. D. Allen, P. R. Schreiner, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140, 14421-14432.
- [118] M. Gomberg, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1900, 22, 757-771.
- [119] S. Rösel, H. Quanz, C. Logemann, J. Becker, E. Mossou, L. Cañadillas-Delgado, E. Caldeweyher, S. Grimme, P. R. Schreiner, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 7428-7431.
- [120] O. Ermer, S. A. Mason, F. A. L. Anet, S. S. Miura, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 2330-2334.
- [121] D. W. Stephan, Org. Biomol. Chem. 2008, 6, 1535-1539.
- [122] F. Holtrop, C. Helling, M. Lutz, N. P. van Leest, B. de Bruin, J. C. Slootweg, Synlett 2022, 34, 1122-1128.
- [123] Z. Ren, T. L. Sunderland, C. Tortoreto, T. Yang, J. F. Berry, D. G. Musaev, H. M. L. Davies, ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 10676-10682.
- [124] L. R. Collins, S. Auris, R. Goddard, A. Fürstner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2019, 58, 3557-3561.
- [125] S. Singha, M. Buchsteiner, G. Bistoni, R. Goddard, A. Fürstner, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2021**, *143*, 5666-5673.
- [126] S. Winstein, N. J. Holness, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 5562-5578.
- [127] E. Solel, M. Ruth, P. R. Schreiner, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2021, 143, 20837-20848.
- [128] F. M. Wilming, B. Marazzi, P. P. Debes, J. Becker, P. R. Schreiner, J. Org. Chem. 2023, 88, 1024-1035.

- [129] H. F. König, L. Rummel, H. Hausmann, J. Becker, J. M. Schümann, P. R. Schreiner, J. Org. Chem. 2022, 87, 4670-4679.
- [130] J. M. Schümann, L. Ochmann, J. Becker, A. Altun, I. Harden, G. Bistoni, P. R. Schreiner, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2023, 145, 2093-2097.
- [131] M. J. Miller, M. H. Lyttle, A. Streitwieser, Jr., J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 1977-1984.
- [132] M. H. Lyttle, A. Streitwieser, Jr., R. Q. Kluttz, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 3232-3233.
- [133] L. A. Paquette, G. J. Hefferon, R. Samodral, Y. Hanzawa, J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 1262-1266.
- [134] S. Rösel, P. R. Schreiner, Isr. J. Chem. 2022, 62, e202200002.
- [135] S. Schwan, A. J. Achazi, F. Ziese, P. R. Schreiner, K. Volz, S. Dehnen, S. Sanna, D. Mollenhauer, J. Comput. Chem. 2023, 44, 843-856.
- [136] J. Belz, J. Haust, M. J. Müller, K. Eberheim, S. Schwan, S. Gowrisankar, F. Hüppe, A. Beyer, P. R. Schreiner, D. Mollenhauer, S. Sanna, S. Chatterjee, K. Volz, *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2022, *126*, 9843-9854.
- [137] L. Ochmann, M. Fuhrmann, F. J. Gössl, A. Makaveev, P. R. Schreiner, Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968-6972.
- [138] T. Förster, Ann. Phys. 1948, 437, 55-75.
- [139] H. Langhals, C. Dietl, J. Dahl, R. Carlson, Y.-T. Chern, P. Mayer, J. Org. Chem. 2020, 85, 11154-11169.
- [140] H. W. Kroto, J. R. Heath, S. C. O'Brien, R. F. Curl, R. E. Smalley, *Nature* 1985, 318, 162-163.
- [141] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, A. A. Firsov, *Science* 2004, 306, 666-669.
- [142] T. Gibtner, F. Hampel, J.-P. Gisselbrecht, A. Hirsch, Chem. Eur. J. 2002, 8, 408-432.
- [143] W. A. Chalifoux, R. R. Tykwinski, Nat. Chem. 2010, 2, 967-971.
- [144] A. Baeyer, Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1885, 18, 2269-2281.
- [145] Y. Gao, Y. Hou, F. Gordillo Gámez, M. J. Ferguson, J. Casado, R. R. Tykwinski, *Nat. Chem.* **2020**, *12*, 1143-1149.

5. Publications

5.1 Functionalization of Diamondoids via a New $S_{\rm N}1$ Redox Condensation



"We present a new acid free method for the generation of carbocations based on a redox condensation reaction that enables S_N1 reactions with a variety of nucleophiles. We utilize readily synthesized phosphinites that are activated by diisopropyl azodicarboxylate to form betaine structures that collapse upon adding a pronucleophile, thereby yielding reactive carbocation intermediates. We also employ this approach for the alkylation of some bioactive molecules."

Reference

L. Ochmann, M. L. Kessler, P. R. Schreiner, Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464.

Reprinted with permission from *Org. Lett.* **2022**, 24, 7, 1460–1464. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

http://pubs.acs.org/articlesonrequest/AOR-D4PIJMUYZUKZVX6GYRAP

Organic Letters

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett

Alkylphosphinites as Synthons for Stabilized Carbocations

Lukas Ochmann, Mika L. Kessler, and Peter R. Schreiner*

Cite This: Org.	Lett. 2022, 24, 1460–1464	Read Online
ACCESS	III Metrics & More	Article Recommendations Supporting Information
ABSTRACT: We carbocations based	present a new acid-free n on a redox condensation read	nethod for the generation of ction that enables S_N^{1} reactions $O^{P_h}_{P_h}$ Nuc-H DIAD Nuc $O^{50+ examples}_{up to 96\% yield}$

carbocations based on a redox condensation reaction that enables S_NI reactions of ucleophiles. We utilize readily synthesized phosphinites that are activated by diisopropyl azodicarboxylate to form betaine structures that collapse upon adding a pronucleophile, thereby yielding reactive carbocation intermediates. We also employ this approach for the alkylation of some bioactive molecules.

 ${\bf S}$ ince their discovery by Mukaiyama, $^{\scriptscriptstyle 1}$ oxidation–reduction condensation reactions have been widely used as tools for the interconversion of alcohols to many different functional groups. Best known is the Mitsunobu reaction that has been key for the construction of complex molecules for over 50 years.² Although the substrate scope was expanded by improvement of the reaction conditions, oxidation-reduction condensation reactions are mainly limited to structures that allow an $S_N 2$ reaction pathway.³ The necessity of a backside attack of the nucleophile toward the corresponding phosphonium salt excludes substrates that do not allow these trajectories, such as cage compounds, e.g., diamondoids. This compound class with adamantane as its parent structure combines many different properties such as high rigidity,⁵ negative electron affinity,⁶ lipophilicity,⁷ and chemical inertness under physiological conditions,⁸ therefore leading to many applications in various fields. Derivatives of the smallest diamondoids, adamantane and diamantane, have been used as catalyst backbones,⁹ linear spacers,¹⁰ dispersion energy donors,¹¹ gas sensors,¹² or highly potent drugs.¹³ The selective functionalization of such diamond-like structures is important for the further utilization and incorporation in multifunctional complex structures. Nonetheless, this functionalization remains challenging due to the high stability of diamondoids, and many different methods have been presented over the years, often requiring harsh reactions conditions like overstoichiometric addition of Brønsted/Lewis acids and nucleophiles,¹⁴ high reaction temperatures and long reaction times,¹⁵ or the necessity of special electrochemical¹⁶ or photochemical equipment.¹⁷ This often leads to a lack of generality for varying functional groups and low yields. We envisioned the development of a redox condensation for the generation of stabilized carbocations that then can be trapped by any given nucleophile. As a starting point, we chose the latest developed method for the nucleophilic substitutions of tertiary alcohols via this reaction type by Mukaiyama and co-workers using various trivalent phosphorus species as the reductant and substituted *p*-benzoquinones as the oxidant. As already shown

in a few examples by Mukaiyama et al., the combination of PhOPPh₂ and 2,6-di-tert-butyl-benzoquinone (DBBQ) performed best in the substitution for 1-adamantanol, i.e., giving adamant-1-yl-4-chlorobenzoate in up to 83% yield after 24 h reflux in DCM.^{3b} This route was only applicable to carboxylic acids and not to generic nucleophiles since most of them also react with the deployed oxidant/reductant or lack of sufficient acidity for the protonation of the intermediate betaine structure. Preformation of the O–P bond via synthesis of the corresponding phosphinites or diazaphosphites overcame this problem and extended the scope to a larger variety than just carboxylic acids, but isolation of these trivalent phosphorus intermediates is often tedious.¹⁸ This limits upscaling processes and decreases practical applicability. Also every change in reactants must typically be accompanied by a new screening for suitable oxidant.¹⁹

R1

Mixing readily available diamondoid alcohols²⁰ (1a–1c) with cheap commercially available chlorodiphenylphosphine and a slight excess of pyridine in DCM resulted in quick formation of the diamondoid diphenylphosphinites (2a–2c), which are simply isolated by filtration over a pad of neutral alumina oxide, in excellent yields of 90–96% in quantities up to 100 mmol (Scheme 1). The use of mild amine bases instead of strong alkoxides or lithium bases is rather unusual, as is the stability of the isolated diamondoid phosphinites against air and moisture.^{15,21} No degradation was observed by GC-MS or ³¹P NMR spectroscopy even after 12 months of storage.

Activation of the phosphinite with quinones is proposed to form a betaine structure that deprotonates an acidic pronucleophile. The intermediate phosphonium salt then collapses upon attack of the anionic nucleophile to a

Received: January 6, 2022 Published: February 11, 2022



https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464

Downloaded via UNIV GIESSEN on February 26, 2023 at 20:06:23 (UTC). See https://pubs.acs.org/sharingguidelines for options on how to legitimately share published articles.



© 2022 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society

1460







^aYields of pure, isolated products are given on a 1 mmol scale. ^bHBF₄ as the nucleophile. ^cTMS derivative as the nucleophile. ^dNH₄I as the nucleophile. ^cIn each case both products were isolated from the same reaction mixture.



^aYields of pure, isolated products are given on a 1 mmol scale. ^bTMS derivative as the nucleophile. ^cNitrile **5g** and isonitrile **5h** were isolated from the same reaction mixture.

phosphinate leaving group and the desired substituted alcohol.^{3b} Screening of further structures for the oxidative activation of the phosphinite showed that azo compounds are superior in this former rate-determing step, and they react quickly with the trivalent phosphorus already at room temperature. Subsequent addition of an acidic pronucleophile leaves indeed the desired substitution product as well as a phosphonohydrazine as the leaving group.²² Screening of nucleophiles revealed that this is a general reaction that works with many (mildly) acidic nucleophiles or compounds bearing labile TMS-R bonds. The scope of nucleophiles is at least as broad as in Mitsunobu reactions, allowing the formation of C-C (sp, sp², sp³), C-N, C-S, C-O, and C-Hal bonds on severely sterically hindered substrates in reasonable to excellent yields within very short reactions times at ambient conditions (Schemes 2 and 3). As expected, anisole as activated arene gives a much higher yield of 88% (4b/4c) in an electrophilic aromatic substitution reaction compared to only 9% for relatively unreactive benzene (4a).

There is a noticeable significant difference in yields with silylated nucleophiles as compared to those with the corresponding acids (i.e., **3m**, **3o**, and **3r/3s**). This might be a direct cause of the transsilylation/deprotonation step after betaine formation. Upon protonation, oxygen remains reasonably nucleophilic, attacking the positively charged phosphorus forming a five-membered ring^{2,3} with subsequent fragmentation to the diphenylalkylphosphinate (**6**, see SI). Indeed, this structure is observed as the only byproduct if the deployed pronucleophile is not acidic enough to quantitatively protonate the betaine structure.

Further substrate screening was carried out with TMSN₃ as the nucleophile. TMSCI was unsuitable in most cases due to the formation of volatile compounds or hydrolytically labile bonds. We were able to functionalize bridgehead diamondoid alcohols bearing additional functional groups to generate

> https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464

1461

Organic Letters

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett

Scheme 4. Scope for Additional Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary Substrates^a



^aYield is given based on trivalent phosphorus content (determined by DIAD titration) for comparability; yield of pure, isolated products over two steps is given in parentheses; 1 mmol scale. ^b0.1 mmol scale. ^c9-(*tert*-Butyldimethylsiloxy)diamantan-4-ol as a nucleophile. ^dTMSCl as a nucleophile. ^en-BuLi as a base.

Scheme 5. Phosphinite Activation as an Alkylation Method for Complex Bioactive Molecules



precursors of γ -adamantyl glycine²⁴ or memantine (cf. Scheme 4, 9c and 9g), higher diamondoids like 9-triamantanol (cf. 9f), and even 2-adamantanol via its secondary carbocation (cf. 9h). Further, (diamondoid)diols like 4,9-hydroxydiamantane (cf. 9e) and monoprotected diols (cf. 9a and 9b) react in a similar fashion in comparable yields without observable decomposition of the acid-labile protecting group.



We also employed stabilized allylic and benzylic carbocations and obtained benzylazide 9i, cinnamyl azide 9j, and 9azidofluorene 91 in yields above 70% over two steps. The significantly lower yield for diphenylazide 9k is the result of the decreased air stability of its phosphinite structure (87% isolated product relative to trivalent phosphorus content vs 23% relative to the starting alcohol). For primary alkyl substrates, where the formation of a cation would be highly disfavored, fragmentation of the betaine occurs instead of carbocation formation. A substitution or rearrangement product is not observed (cf. Scheme 4, 9d). For tertiary alkyl substrates, we just found traces of the desired substitution product (9m). Analysis of the reaction mixture via GC-MS indicated significant formation of olefinic products which is a direct consequence of the instability of the carbocationic intermediate that triggers α -proton elimination. The neutral conditions of the reaction prevent further equilibration to the substitution product.

Due to the mild reaction conditions, we envisioned that this redox condensation substitution is also a suitable alkylation method for complex molecules that circumvents potential isomerization or decomposition. Especially the incorporation of adamantane moieties to bioactive molecules is of great value, as it increases their lipophilicity and therefore the ability to pass the blood-brain barrier.^{7,25} We chose the steroids testosterone 10a and estrone 11a as model substrates. Both are adamantylated at their alcoholic position to the new compounds 10b and 11b with just 1 equiv of *in situ* generated alkylation reagent in yields of 19% and 30% within 15 min and almost full recovery of unreacted starting material (Scheme 5).

To provide evidence for the formation of a carbocation intermediate, we applied this reaction to fenchyl alcohol and α -terpineol. The generation of 2-norbornyl cation derivative **12b** should lead to a kinetically favored Wagner–Meerwein rearrangement followed by substitution/elimination.²⁶ For the terpinyl cation (**13b**), an E₁ elimination to the kinetic product limonene **13c** should be favored, and the neutral conditions of the reaction disable isomerization to the more highly substituted double bond.

Indeed, reaction of phosphinite 12a gives seven isomers of fenchene 12c (by GC-MS) in 76% total yield. Phosphinite 13a leads to limonene 13c as the major and 1-methyl-4-(1methylethylidene)cyclohexene 13d as the minor product in a ratio of approximately 5.5:1 in a combined yield of 88% (Scheme 6). Together with the observation of nearly 1:1 product mixtures in the case of ambident nucleophiles, these findings strongly underline the formation of free carbocations (in the sense of solvent-separated ion pairs) in the case of

1462

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464



Figure 1. Proposed mechanism for the presented redox condensation $S_N 1$ reaction.

substrates that are able to reasonably stabilize cationic intermediates.

General mechanistic considerations for this new redox condensation $S_{\rm N}1$ reaction are shown in Figure 1. DIAD activates phosphinite 8 to form betaine 14a, which tautomerizes to its more stable form 14b. In the case of adamantane structure 14 was confirmed by ³¹P NMR spectroscopy ($\delta = 43.7$ pm)²⁷ and ESI-MS ([M – Ad + Na]⁺, m/z = 427.141) and forms in quantitative fashion at reaction times under 1 min at room temperature. Upon protonation or transsilylation, the betaine collapses immediately to a phosphonohydrazine structure 15, leaving an isolated carbocation 16 and an anionic nucleophile. Recombination of the two ionic structures results in the desired substitution product 17.

In conclusion, we have developed a neutral and fast method for the generation of stabilized carbocations from readily available and cheap chemicals. Cations that cannot undergo elimination due to missing α -protons or resulting ring strain can be trapped by nucleophiles in substitution reactions, whereas others undergo kinetically favored intramolecular rearrangements and elimination reactions. This approach might also be useful for the construction of complex molecules which often do not tolerate the harsh (acidic) reaction conditions usually used for the generation of cationic intermediates.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge at https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042.

Full experimental procedures, compound characterization, and spectra of all compounds (PDF)

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Peter R. Schreiner – Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany; • orcid.org/ 0000-0002-3608-5515; Email: prs@uni-giessen.de

Authors

Lukas Ochmann – Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany; o orcid.org/ 0000-0002-9207-0975

Mika L. Kessler – Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany

Complete contact information is available at:

https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042

Author Contributions

L.O. designed the study. L.O. and M.L.K. carried out all experiments. L.O. and P.R.S. wrote the manuscript. P.R.S. supervised the work.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the ANR-DFG program HYBRIDIAMS (ANR-16-CE92-0037-01 and Schr 597/31-1). The authors thank Dominik Niedek and Jan-Philipp Berndt (Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany) for fruitful discussions, Boryslav Tkachenko (Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany) for the preparation of 9triamantanol, and Jonathan Becker (Institute of Inorganic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany) for determination of the X-ray structure of **5c** (available upon request).

REFERENCES

(1) (a) Mukaiyama, T.; Nambu, H.; Kuwajima, I. Reactions of Mercuric Carboxylates with Trivalent Phosphorus Compounds. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28 (4), 917–920. (b) Mukaiyama, T.; Kuwajima, I.; Suzuki, Z. Novel Method for the Preparation of Acid Anhydrides by Means of Diphenylmercury and Tertiary Phosphine. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28 (8), 2024–2027.

(2) (a) Mitsunobu, O.; Yamada, M. Preparation of Esters of Carboxylic and Phosphoric Acid via Quaternary Phosphonium Salts. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1967**, *40* (10), 2380–2382. (b) Swamy, K. C. K.; Kumar, N. N. B.; Balaraman, E.; Kumar, K. V. P. P. Mitsunobu and Related Reactions: Advances and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109* (6), 2551–2651.

(3) (a) Shi, Y.-J.; Hughes, D. L.; McNamara, J. M. Stereospecific synthesis of chiral tertiary alkyl-aryl ethers via Mitsunobu reaction with complete inversion of configuration. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2003, 44 (18), 3609–3611. (b) Mukaiyama, T.; Shintou, T.; Fukumoto, K. A Convenient Method for the Preparation of Inverted tert-Alkyl Carboxylates from Chiral tert-Alcohols by a New Type of Oxidation-Reduction Condensation Using 2,6-Dimethyl-1,4-benzo-quinone. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125 (35), 10538–10539.
(c) Fletcher, S. The Mitsunobu reaction in the 21st century. Org. Chem. Front. 2015, 2 (6), 739–752.
(4) (a) von Schleyer, P.; Nicholas, R. D. The Reactivity of

(4) (a) von Schleyer, P.; Nicholas, R. D. The Reactivity of Bridgehead Compounds of Adamantane. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1961, 83 (12), 2700-2707. (b) Stetter, H. Neues aus der Chemie der organischen Ringsysteme mit Urotropin (Adamantan)-Struktur. Angew. Chem. 1962, 74 (11), 361-374.

(Š) Schwertfeger, H.; Fokin, A. A.; Schreiner, P. R. Diamonds are a Chemist's Best Friend: Diamondoid Chemistry Beyond Adamantane. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47 (6), 1022–1036.

Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47 (6), 1022–1036.
(6) Yang, W. L.; Fabbri, J. D.; Willey, T. M.; Lee, J. R. I.; Dahl, J. E.; Carlson, R. M. K.; Schreiner, P. R.; Fokin, A. A.; Tkachenko, B. A.; Fokina, N. A.; Meavasana, W.; Mannella, N.; Tanaka, K.; Zhou, X. J.; van Buuren, T.; Kelly, M. A.; Hussain, Z.; Melosh, N. A.; Shen, Z.-X.

1463

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett



Monochromatic Electron Photoemission from Diamondoid Monolayers. Science 2007, 316 (5830), 1460-1462.

(7) Wanka, L.; Iqbal, K.; Schreiner, P. R. The Lipophilic Bullet Hits the Targets: Medicinal Chemistry of Adamantane Derivatives. Chem. (8) Pun, S. H.; Davis, M. E. Development of a Nonviral Gene

Delivery Vehicle for Systemic Application. Bioconjugate Chem. 2002, 13 (3), 630–639.

(9) Müller, C. E.; Wanka, L.; Jewell, K.; Schreiner, P. R. Enantioselective Kinetic Resolution of *trans*-Cycloalkane-1,2-diols. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47 (33), 6180–6183.

(10) Langhals, H.; Dietl, C.; Dahl, J.; Carlson, R.; Chern, Y.-T.; Mayer, P. OrthoFRET in Diamantane FRET in Orthogonal Stiff Dyads; Diamond Restriction for Frozen Vibrations. J. Org. Chem. 2020, 85 (17), 11154-11169.

(11) Kalvet, I.; Deckers, K.; Funes-Ardoiz, I.; Magnin, G.; Sperger, T.; Kremer, M.; Schoenebeck, F. Selective ortho-Functionaliza Adamantylarenes Enabled by Dispersion and an Air-Stable Palladium-(I) Dimer. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2020, 59 (20), 7721–7725.

(12) Moncea, O.; Casanova-Chafer, J.; Poinsot, D.; Ochmann, L.; Mboyi, C. D.; Nasrallah, H. O.; Llobet, E.; Makni, I.; El Atrous, M.; Brandès, S.; Rousselin, Y.; Domenichini, B.; Nuns, N.; Fokin, A. A.; Schreiner, P. R.; Hierso, J.-C. Diamondoid Nanostructures as sp Carbon-Based Gas Sensors. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2019, 58 (29), 9933-9938

(13) (a) Bakhonsky, V. V.; Pashenko, A. A.; Becker, J.; Hausmann, H.; De Groot, H. J. M.; Overkleeft, H. S.; Fokin, A. A.; Schreiner, P R. Synthesis and antiproliferative activity of hindered, chiral 1,2-diaminodiamantane platinum(II) complexes. *Dalton Trans.* **2020**, 49 (40), 14009–14016. (b) Tzitzoglaki, C.; McGuire, K.; Lagarias, P.; Konstantinidi, A.; Hoffmann, A.; Fokina, N. A.; Ma, C.; Papanastasiou, I. P.; Schreiner, P. R.; Vázquez, S.; Schmidtke, M.; Wang, J.; Busath, D. D.; Kolocouris, A. Chemical Probes for Blocking of Influenza A M2 Wild-type and S31N Channels. ACS Chem. Biol. 2020, 15 (9), 2331-2337.

(14) Kahl, P.; Tkachenko, B. A.; Novikovsky, A. A.; Becker, J.; Dahl, J. E. P.; Carlson, R. M. K.; Fokin, A. A.; Schreiner, P. R. Efficient Preparation of Apically Substituted Diamondoid Derivatives. *Synthesis* 2014, 46 (06), 787-798.

2014, 40 (06), /8/-/98.
(15) Tkachenko, B. A.; Fokina, N. A.; Chernish, L. V.; Dahl, J. E. P.;
Liu, S.; Carlson, R. M. K.; Fokin, A. A.; Schreiner, P. R.
Functionalized Nanodiamonds Part 3: Thiolation of Tertiary/
Bridgehead Alcohols. Org. Lett. 2006, 8 (9), 1767-1770.
(16) Sheng, T.; Zhang, H.-J.; Shang, M.; He, C.; Vantourout, J. C.;
Baran, P. S. Electrochemical Decarboxylative N-Alkylation of
Haterocrycle. Org. Lett. 2020, 27 (19), 7504-7508.

Heterocycles. Org. Lett. **2020**, 22 (19), 7594–7598. (17) Weigel, W. K.; Dang, H. T.; Yang, H.-B.; Martin, D. B. C. Synthesis of amino-diamondoid pharmacophores via photocatalytic

C-H aminoalkylation. Chem. Commun. 2020, 56 (67), 9699–9702. (18) Williams, D. B. G.; Netshiozwi, T. E. Synthesis and characterisation of severely hindered P-OR compounds. Tetrahedron 2009, 65 (48), 9973-9982.

(19) (a) Kuroda, K.; Maruyama, Y.; Hayashi, Y.; Mukaiyama, T. Stereospecific Synthesis of Alkyl Aryl Sulfides from Alcohols and 2-Sulfanylbenzothiazole Using Aryl Diphenylphosphinite and Azide Compounds by a New Type of Oxidation–Reduction Condensation. *Chem. Lett.* **2008**, 37 (8), 836–837. (b) Mukaiyama, T.; Kuroda, K.; Maruyama, Y. A new type of oxidation-reduction condensation by the combined use of phenyl diphenylphosphinite and oxidant. Heterocycles 2010, 80 (1), 63-82.

(20) Fokina, N. A.; Tkachenko, B. A.; Merz, A.; Serafin, M.; Dahl, J. E. P.; Carlson, R. M. K.; Fokin, A. A.; Schreiner, P. R. Hydroxy Derivatives of Diamantane, Triamantane, and [121]Tetramantane: Selective Preparation of Bis-Apical Derivatives. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 2007 (28), 4738-4745.

(21) Fernández-Pérez, H.; Etayo, P.; Panossian, A.; Vidal-Ferran, A. Phosphine-Phosphinite and Phosphine-Phosphite Ligands: Preparation and Applications in Asymmetric Catalysis. Chem. Rev. 2011, 111 (3), 2119-2176.

(22) (a) Huang, H.; Kang, J. Y. Oxidation-Reduction Condensation on Diazaphosphites for Carbon-Heteroatom Bond Formation Based on Mitsunobu Mechanism. *Org. Lett.* **201**7, *19* (3), 544–547. (b) Huang, H.; Kang, J. Y. Mitsunobu Reaction Using Basic Amines (a) Fornull (2), 16, 2017, 82 (13), 6604–6614.
 (23) Satish Kumar, N.; Praveen Kumar, K.; Pavan Kumar, K. V. P.;

Kommana, P.; Vittal, J. J.; Kumara Swamy, K. C. Diverse Modes of Reactivity of Dialkyl Azodicarboxylates with P(III) Compounds: Synthesis, Structure, and Reactivity of Products Other than the . Morrison–Brunn–Huisgen Intermediate in a Mitsunobu-Type Reaction. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69 (6), 1880–1889. (24) Wanka, L.; Cabrele, C.; Vanejews, M.; Schreiner, P. R. γ

Aminoadamantanecarboxylic Acids Through Direct C–H Bond
 Aminoadamantanecarboxylic Acids Through Direct C–H Bond
 Amidations. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2007, 2007 (9), 1474–1490.
 (25) (a) Gerzon, K.; Tobias, D. J.; Holmes, R. E.; Rathbun, R. E.;

Kattau, R. W. The Adamantyl Group in Medicinal Agents. IV. Sedative Action of 3,5,7-Trimethyladamantane-1-carboxamide¹ and Related Agents. J. Med. Chem. **1967**, 10 (4), 603–606. (b) Swift, P. A.; Stagnito, M. L.; Mullen, G. B.; Palmer, G. C.; Georgiev, V. S. 2-(Substituted amino)-2-[2'-hydroxy-2'-alkyl(or aryl)]ethyltricyclo-[3.3.1.13,7]decane derivatives: a novel class of anti-hypoxia agents. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 1988, 23 (5), 465-471.

(26) Meerwein, H. Über den Reaktionsmechanismus der Umwandlung von Borneol in Camphen; [Dritte Mitteilung über Pinakoli-

numlagerungen.]. Liebigs Ann. 1914, 405 (2), 129–175. (27) (a) Morrison, D. Reactions of Alkyl Phosphites with Diethyl Azodicarboxylate. J. Org. Chem. 1958, 23 (7), 1072–1074. (b) Brunn, E.; Huisgen, R. Structure and Reactivity of the Betaine Derived from Triphenylphosphine and Dimethyl Azodicarboxylate. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1969, 8 (7), 513-515. (c) Guthrie, R.; Jenkins, I. The Mechanism of the Mitsunobu Reaction. A ³¹P NMR Study. Aust. J. Chem. **1982**, 35 (4), 767–774. (d) Swamy, K. C. K.; Kumar, K. P.; Kumar, N. N. B. Further Characterization of Mitsunobu-Type Intermediates in the Reaction of Dialkyl Azodicarboxylates with P(III) Compounds. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71 (3), 1002–1008.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c00042 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464

1464

5.2 Synthesis of all-*meta* Substituted Arenes



= ⁱPr, *n-*Butyl, Ph, CyH, ^tBu, ^tAmyl, Ad, Dia

"We report a general and scalable method for the synthesis of all-*meta*-trisubstituted benzenes from readily available 3,5-disubstituted catechols. Oxidation and [4+2] cycloaddition with an acetylene dienophile generate a bicyclo[2.2.2]octane structure that is doubly decarbonylated by blue light irradiation leading to a *meta*,*meta*-disubstitution pattern on the re-aromatized system. This enables this substitution pattern even with very bulky alkyl groups (deemed excellent dispersion energy donors) to be incorporated into, for example, chiral phosphoric acid catalysts."

Reference

L. Ochmann, M. Fuhrmann, F. J. Gössl, A. Makaveev, P. R. Schreiner, Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968-6972.

Reprinted with permission from *Org. Lett.* 2022, 24, 38, 6968–6972. Copyright 2022 American Chemical Society.

http://pubs.acs.org/articlesonrequest/AOR-V2YAKQY62DGJTEYAQATC

Organic Letters

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett

All That *metas*—Synthesis of Dispersion Energy Donor-Substituted Benzenes

Lukas Ochmann, Michael Fuhrmann, Felix J. Gössl, Alexander Makaveev, and Peter R. Schreiner*



 ${
m E}$ ven though aromatic compounds have been known for more than 150 years,¹ arene chemistry is still a pillar of organic synthesis for the preparation of natural and non-natural compounds. Many electrophilic substitution methods have been presented, beginning with traditional Friedel-Crafts chemistry² and ending with sophisticated transition-metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. 3 The regioselectivity is usually determined by the electronic properties of the substrate⁴ or through strategic placement of functional groups, often leading to nearly inseparable mixtures of isomers or excluding certain substitution patterns.5 Recently, meta-substituted arenes have gained momentum, e.g., for the investigation of London dispersion (LD) interactions⁶ or the tuning of steric⁷ or electronic⁸ properties of catalysts and ligands. Especially, bulky alkyl or alkyl silyl substituents in the meta positions showed a considerable increase in LD interactions and were, therefore, successfully used as so-called dispersion energy donors $(DEDs)^9$ in molecular azobenzene switches, ¹⁰ for the stabilization of labile molecules, like hexaphenylethane¹¹ or polyynes, ¹² and to increase or rationalize catalyst activity and selectivity.^{7d,13} Nevertheless. the direct catalyst activity and selectivity.

Nevertheless, the direct synthesis of the needed *meta*substituted aryl precursors often remains challenging, especially for sterically demanding alkyl groups. Labile reagents have to be prepared; ¹⁴ however, the generality of the described methods is low, and every substituent class requires different reaction sequences.^{11b,15} In 1954, Bartlett et al. synthesized 1-bromo-3,5di-*tert*-butylbenzene from 1,3,5-tri-*tert*-butylbenzene by bromination in the presence of iron.¹⁶ Jiao et al. picked up the idea of dealkylation in 2019 by synthesizing 3,5-dicyclohexylaniline from the 1,3,5-trialkyl derivative by a site-directed carbon– carbon amination, although the reaction was only carried out at a small scale (50 mg; Scheme 1a).¹⁷ Wegner and co-workers as well as our group used a Negishi coupling strategy for the preparation of 3,5-dicyclohexyl and 3,5-diadamantyl aniline as

In the section of the

© 2022 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society Scheme 1. Retrosynthetic Analysis of m,m-Substituted Benzenes



well as the corresponding iodides, respectively (Scheme 1b). $^{10a_{\rm s},1\,\rm b}$

Nonetheless, this requires freshly prepared organozinc reagents, and the yields drop significantly for gram-scale

Received: August 17, 2022 Published: September 15, 2022



https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968-6972

6968

reactions, especially for bulky substituents. Furthermore, reactive groups already have to be attached at the right position in the precursor molecules.

In 2019, Wegner et al. expanded the scope to linear 3,5dialkyl-substituted anilines using a Wittig olefination instead of cross-coupling reactions as the key step (Scheme 1c), but generality is missing when it comes to secondary or even tertiary alkyl substituents.^{10b} We sought unifying the synthesis of (bulky) *meta,meta-substituted* benzenes via a straightforward and scalable synthesis starting from 3,5-disubstituted catechols. Their oxidation to the corresponding quinones yields dienes that are set up for subsequent [4 + 2] cycloaddition reactions. The resulting bicyclo[2.2.2]octane derivatives re-aromatize to the corresponding 1,2,4- or 1,3,5-trisubstituted (depending upon the regioselectivity of the cycloaddition) arene by double decarbonylation triggered by blue-light irradiation.¹⁸

We began our studies with the synthesis of a broad variety of 3,5-disubstituted catechols. These substituted 1,2-dihydroxybenzenes are readily available for a broad variety of substrates through direct alkylations of catechol¹⁹ or salicylic acid derivatives. The latter can be converted to the corresponding catechols via functional group interconversion of the acid to the aldehyde and subsequent Dakin oxidation.²⁰ Therefore, we *ortho*-formylated a variety of commercially available or easily accessible 2,4-disubstituted phenols.²¹ The resulting salicylaldehydes reacted smoothly to the desired catechols using 1.3 equiv of H₂O₂ in alkaline tetrahydrofuran (THF) solution.²² In the case of compounds **4b** and **4c**, the formylation was skipped because either the salicylaldehyde or *ortho*-methoxy benzaldehyde were commercially available and were easily converted to the dihydroxybenzene by deprotection and/or Dakin reaction.

The phenols for the synthesis of compounds **4d** and **4e** were obtained by decarboxylation of commercial 3,5-diisopropylsalicylic acid and 3,5-dicyclohexylsalicylic acid, which was prepared by a new direct Friedel–Crafts alkylation from cyclohexanol and salicylic acid in neat sulfuric acid. Straightforward reduction of the acid to the alcohol and reoxidation to the aldehyde led to inseparable mixtures of unidentifiable products. The yields are comparable in all cases and vary between 66 and 76% over two steps (Scheme 2). Diamondoid-substituted catechols were obtained via alkylation of 1,2-dihydroxybenzene by activation of diamondoid phosphinites²³ to yield mainly the 3,5-isomers **4j** and **4k**, (with small amounts of the 3,6-substituted isomers **4ja** and **4ka** (for detailed procedures, see the Supporting Information).

With the 3,5-disubstituted catechols in hand, we decided to adapt a reaction sequence from the total synthesis of atisanetype diterpenoids presented by Liu et al.²⁴ Oxidation *in situ* with manganese dioxide led to the corresponding *o*-benzoquinones that were reacted further in a Diels–Alder reaction with trimethylsilylacetylene to a trisubstituted bicyclo[2.2.2]octane framework (step 1 in Scheme 3). Because these labile compounds already partially aromatized upon irradiation with sunlight, we decided to purify all 3,5-disubstituted (trimethylsilyl)arenes after blue light-emitting diode (LED) irradiation ($\lambda = 448$ nm; step 2 in Scheme 3). The corresponding iodides were obtained quantitatively in all cases by mixing the trimethylsilyl (TMS) derivative with a slight excess of iodine monochloride in dichloromethane (DCM) (last step in Scheme 3).

In the case of secondary alkyl substituents (7d and 7e), the reaction was performed neat in trimethylsilylacetylene and DCM was not necessary to ensure sufficient solubility of



Letter

Scheme 2. Synthesis of 3,5-Disubstituted Catechols, with Yields Given over Two Steps



catechol/o-benzoquinone, in contrast to all tertiary-substituted derivatives (7h-7k). Because the yields for the *in situ* MnO₂ oxidation to the o-quinones for secondary and aryl substrates were not quantitative, we decided to oxidize the catechols 4d-4f to the corresponding quinones 5d-5f first (quinones 5a-5cand 5g were not stable enough to be isolated), before proceeding with the [4 + 2] cycloaddition with substoichiometric amounts MnO2 to ensure oxidative conditions. All investigated in situ oxidants [Ag₂O, ceric ammonium nitrate (CAN), pyridinium chlorochromate (PCC), NaIO₄] either did not yield the oquinone (in the case of PCC), reacted with the acetylene moiety (in the case of Ag_2O), or gave undesired side products (i.e., nitration in the case of CAN). To our great delight, all reactions with secondary and tertiary substituents selectively gave the desired 1,3,5 regioisomer [traces of the 1,2,4 isomer were detected by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) for compounds 7d and 7e], indicating high regioselectivity for the cycloaddition. For primary and phenyl substituents (6f and 6g), the regioisomer ratios were 19:1 and 3:1, respectively. Therefore, we employed sterically more hindered triisopropylsilylacetylene as the dienophile to improve the regioselectivity of the cycloaddition step but observed only a slight increase in

6969

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968–6972

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett



Scheme 3. Synthesis of 3,5-Disubstituted Iodobenzenes, a with Yields Given over Three Steps and Regioisomeric Ratios in Parentheses



^{*a*}All reactions were carried out at least on a 2 mmol scale (catechol or quinone). ^{*b*}Reaction times depend upon the concentration of the irradiated solution. ^{*c*}ICl can be used neat or as 1 M solution in DCM. ^{*d*}Synthesized from the corresponding quinone.

Scheme 4. Synthesis of 3,5-Disubstituted Anilines from Unmasked *o*-Benzoquinones,^{*a*} with Yields Given over Four Steps



^{*a*}All reactions were carried out at least at 1 mmol scale (quinone). ^{*b*}Without oxidation, benzylic alcohol can be isolated, and oxidation with PCC gives the corresponding aldehyde. ^{*c*}Oxidation was carried out in DCM/H₂O with phase-transfer catalysis (PTC).

selectivity. In situ generated quinones bearing methyl (5a), bromo (5b), or trifluoromethyl (5c) substituents did not react in the desired [4 + 2] cycloaddition but yielded a mixture of unidentified and insoluble products, most likely because of side Scheme 5. Synthesis of New Bulky Chiral Phosphoric Acids (CPAs) and Their Activity in an Organocatalytic Reductive Amination Reaction"



^aYields of catalyst synthesis are given over five steps: (a) 3.4 equiv of K_2CO_3 , 5.0 equiv of MeJ, acetone, 40 °C, and 72 h, (b) (1) 3.3 equiv of *n*-BuLi, 3.1 equiv of tetramethylethylenediamine (TMEDA), Et₂O, room temperature, and 3 h, (2) 7.2 equiv of B(OMe)₃, from -78 °C to room temperature, and 12 h, and (3) 1 M HCl, room temperature, and 2 h, (c) 3.0 equiv of compound 7j or 7k, 3.0 equiv of K_2CO_3 , 10 mol % Pd(PPh₃)₄, THF/H₂O (1:1), 60 °C, and 16 h, (d) 7.1 equiv of BBr₃, CH₂Cl₂, room temperature, and 16 h, and (e) 2.0 equiv of POCl₃, pyridine, 60 °C, and 18 h.

reactions, such as Michael addition or self-polymerization, as a result of reduced steric hindrance or increased electrophilicity. The yields over all three steps are between 14 and 51% for primary (**6g**) and secondary (7d and 7e) alkyl substituents and increase to more than 80% for tertiary (7h–7k) alkyl substituents (Scheme 3). To demonstrate the scalability of the presented route, we synthesized 15 g of 3,5-diadamantyl-1-iodobenzene (7j) in one batch with the same yield as for the 2 mmol scale.

To emphasize the generality for the synthesis of all metasubstituted arenes with the method presented here, we also aimed for a convenient synthesis of the corresponding anilines. Although the literature provides simple methods for the amination of iodobenzenes,²⁵ these transformations were proven to be suitable only for primary and secondary alkyl substituents.^{13d} Therefore, we changed the dienophile to Therefore, we changed the dienophile to propargylic alcohol to form the corresponding benzylic alcohol after light-induced double decarbonylation (steps 1 and 2 in Scheme 4). Usage of propargylic acid, aldehydes, or methyl esters was not possible as a result of insufficient regioselectivity during the cycloaddition step, even for tertiary substrates. Again, the product was isolated after blue-light irradiation or after oxidation to the corresponding aldehyde or benzoic acid, respectively. Schmidt reaction²⁶ gave the desired anilines (9h-9k) in yields from 10 up to 63% over four steps (Scheme 4). The reduced yields for compounds 9h and 9k can be explained by an additional crystallization step in the purification of compound 8h and low conversion as a result of the decreased solubility of compound 8k in chloroform/sulfuric acid in the last step

To showcase the versatility of the all-*meta* motif in organocatalytic reactions, we incorporated 3,5-disubstituted adamantyl and diamantyl benzenes in 1,1'-bi-2-naphthol

6970

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968-6972

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett



(BINOL)-derived chiral phosphoric acids **11a** and **11b** and tested the efficacy of compounds **11a** and **11b** in an established reductive amination reaction (Scheme 5).²⁷ Indeed, compound **11a** gave an enantiomeric excess (ee) of 84% (83% for compound **11b**) for the reductive amination of acetophenone with *p*-methoxyaniline under unoptimized conditions and, therefore, shows comparable selectivity as the best catalyst from MacMillan and co-workers with extremely bulky SiPh₃ groups (87%).²⁷

In conclusion, we developed a general and metal-free procedure to synthesize challenging *meta,meta-*trisubstituted benzenes. The route works well for a variety of bulky alkyl substituents that are highly desirable as dispersion energy donors. Our protocol is readily scalable to the multigram scale and, therefore, highly suitable for the incorporation of all-*meta* arenes into catalysts, as demonstrated for an enantioselective reductive amination using a new sterically bulky chiral phosphoric acid catalyst.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge at https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Peter R. Schreiner – Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany; o orcid.org/ 0000-0002-3608-5515; Email: prs@uni-giessen.de

Authors

- Lukas Ochmann Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany; orcid.org/0000-0002-9207-0975
- Michael Fuhrmann Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany; Octid.org/ 0000-0001-9017-4677
- Felix J. Gössl Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany; o orcid.org/0000-0001-9140-5086
- Alexander Makaveev Institute of Organic Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, 35392 Giessen, Germany

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780

Author Contributions

Lukas Ochmann designed the study. Lukas Ochmann, Michael Fuhrmann, Felix J. Gössl, and Alexander Makaveev carried out all experiments. Lukas Ochmann and Peter R. Schreiner wrote the manuscript. Peter R. Schreiner supervised the work. Notes

-1 1

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the ANR-DFG Program HYBRIDIAMS (ANR-16-CE92-0037-01 and Schr 597/31-1). The authors thank Maya Ziegler (Institute of Organic

Chemistry, Justus Liebig University, Giessen, Germany) for preliminary experimental contributions.

REFERENCES

(1) (a) Hofmann, A. W. V. I. On insolinic acid. Proc. R. Soc. London 1857, 8, 1–3. (b) Kekulé, A. Untersuchungen über aromatische Verbindungen; I. Ueber die Constitution der aromatischen Verbindungen. Ann. Chem. Pharm. 1866, 137 (2), 129–196.

(2) Friedel, C.; Crafts, J. M. Sur une nouvelle méthode générale de synthèse d'hydrocarbures, d'acétones, etc. C. R. Acad. Sci. 1877, 84, 1392.

(3) (a) Miyaura, N.; Yanagi, T.; Suzuki, A. The palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of phenylboronic acid with haloarenes in the presence of bases. Synth. Commun. 1981, 11 (7), 513–519. (b) Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organo-boron compounds. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95 (7), 2457–2483. (c) Campeau, L.-C.; Hazari, N. Cross-Coupling and Related Reactions: Connecting Past Success to the Development of New Reactions for the Future. Organometallics 2019, 38 (1), 3–35.

(4) Olah, G. A.; Kuhn, S. J. Aromatic Substitution. VI. Intermediate Complexes and the Reaction Mechanism of Friedel-Crafts Alkylations and Acylations¹. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1958**, 80 (24), 6541–6545.

(5) Wang, P.-C.; Yao, K.; Lu, M. Preparation of heteropoly acid based ampliphilic salts supported by nano oxides and their catalytic performance in the nitration of aromatics. *RSC Adv.* **2013**, 3 (7), 2197–2202.

(6) Eisenschitz, R.; London, F. Über das Verhältnis der van der Waalsschen Kräfte zu den homöopolaren Bindungskräften. Z. Phys. 1930, 60 (7), 491–527.

(7) (a) Jacobsen, E. N.; Zhang, W.; Muci, A. R.; Ecker, J. R.; Deng, L. Highly enantioselective epoxidation catalysts derived from 1,2-diaminocyclohexane. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113 (18), 7063–7064. (b) Jacobsen, E. N. Asymmetric Catalysis of Epoxide Ring-Opening Reactions. Acc. Chem. Res. **2000**, 33 (6), 421–431. (c) Berlin, J. M.; Campbell, K.; Ritter, T.; Funk, T. W.; Chlenov, A.; Grubbs, R. H. Ruthenium-Catalyzed Ring-Closing Metathesis to Form Tetrasubstituted Olefins. Org. Lett. **2007**, 9 (7), 1339–1342. (d) Eschmann, C.; Song, L.; Schreiner, P. R. London Dispersion Interactions Rather than Steric Hindrance Determine the Enantioselectivity of the Corey–Bakshi–Shibata Reduction. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2021**, 60 (9), 4823–4832. (e) Zheng, Y.; Zhang, S.; Low, K.-H.; Zi, W.; Huang, Z. A Unified and Desymmetric Approach to Chiral Tertiary Alkyl Halides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2022**, 144 (4), 1951–1961.

(8) (a) Schreiner, P. R.; Wittkopp, A. H-Bonding Additives Act Like Lewis Acid Catalysts. Org. Lett. 2002, 4 (2), 217–220. (b) Kaib, P. S. J.; Schreyer, L.; Lee, S.; Properzi, R.; List, B. Extremely Active Organocatalysts Enable a Highly Enantioselective Addition of Allyltrimethylsilane to Aldehydes. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2016, 55 (42), 13200–13203. (c) Liu, L.; Kim, H.; Xie, Y.; Farès, C.; Kaib, P. S. J.; Goddard, R.; List, B. Catalytic Asymmetric [4 + 2]-Cycloaddition of Dienes with Aldehydes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139 (39), 13656– 13659.

(9) (a) Grimme, S.; Huenerbein, R.; Ehrlich, S. On the Importance of the Dispersion Energy for the Thermodynamic Stability of Molecules. *ChemPhysChem* 2011, 12 (7), 1258–1261. (b) Wagner, J. P.; Schreiner, P. R. London Dispersion in Molecular Chemistry—Reconsidering Steric Effects. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2015, 54 (42), 12274–12296.

(10) (a) Schweighauser, L.; Strauss, M. A.; Bellotto, S.; Wegner, H. A. Attraction or Repulsion? London Dispersion Forces Control Azobenzene Switches. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2015, 54 (45), 13436–13439. (b) Strauss, M. A.; Wegner, H. A. Exploring London Dispersion and Solvent Interactions at Alkyl–Alkyl Interfaces Using Azobenzene Switches. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2019, 58 (51), 18552–18556. (c) Strauss, M. A.; Wegner, H. A. London Dispersion in Alkane Solvents. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2021, 60 (2), 779–786. (d) Naim, C.; Castet, F.; Matito, E. Impact of van der Waals interactions on the structural and nonlinear optical properties of azobenzene switches. Phys. Chem. Phys. 2021, 23 (37), 21227–21239.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968-6972

6971

pubs.acs.org/OrgLett



(11) (a) Rösel, S.; Balestrieri, C.; Schreiner, P. R. Sizing the role of London dispersion in the dissociation of all-meta tert-butyl hexaphenylethane. Chem. Sci. 2017, 8 (1), 405-410. (b) Rösel, S.; Becker, J.; Allen, W. D.; Schreiner, P. R. Probing the Delicate Balance between Pauli Repulsion and London Dispersion with Triphenylmethyl Derivatives. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140 (43), 14421-14432. (c) Grimme, S.; Schreiner, P. R. Steric Crowding Can Stabilize a Labile Molecule: Solving the Hexaphenylethane Riddle. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2011, 50 (52), 12639-12642.

(12) (a) Gibtner, T.; Hampel, F.; Gisselbrecht, J.-P.; Hirsch, A. End-Cap Stabilized Oligoynes: Model Compounds for the Linear sp Carbon Allotrope Carbyne. Chem. - Eur. J. 2002, 8 (2), 408-432. (b) Chalifoux, W. A.; Tykwinski, R. R. Synthesis of polyynes to model the sp-carbon allotrope carbyne. Nat. Chem. 2010, 2 (11), 967-971. (c) Gao, Y.; Hou, Y.; Gordillo Gámez, F.; Ferguson, M. J.; Casado, J.; Tykwinski, R. R. The loss of endgroup effects in long pyridyl-endcapped oligoynes on

the way to carbyne. Nat. Chem. 2020, 12 (12), 1143-1149. (13) (a) Lu, G.; Liu, R. Y.; Yang, Y.; Fang, C.; Lambrecht, D. S.; Buchwald, S. L.; Liu, P. Ligand-Substrate Dispersion Facilitates the Copper-Catalyzed Hydroamination of Unactivated Olefins. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139* (46), 16548–16555. (b) Xi, Y.; Su, B.; Qi, X.; Pedram, S.; Liu, P.; Hartwig, J. F. Application of Trimethylgermanyl-Substituted Bisphosphine Ligands with Enhanced Dispersion Interactions to Copper-Catalyzed Hydroboration of Disubstituted Alkenes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2020, 142 (42), 18213–18222. (c) Singha, S.; Buchsteiner, M.; Bistoni, G.; Goddard, R.; Fürstner, A. A New Ligand Design Based on London Dispersion Empowers Chiral Bismuth-Rhodium Paddlewheel Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2021, 143 (15), 5666–5673. (d) Rummel, L.; Domanski, M. H. J.; Hausmann, H.; Becker, J.; Schreiner, P. R. London Dispersion Favors Sterically Hindered Diarylthiourea Conformers in Solution. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2022, 61 (29), e202204393.

(14) Molle, G.; Bauer, P.; Dubois, J. E. Formation of cage-structure organomagnesium compounds. Influence of the degree of adsorption of the transient species at the metal surface. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47 (21), 4120-4128.

(15) Diemer, V.; Chaumeil, H.; Defoin, A.; Fort, A.; Boeglin, A.; Carré, C. Syntheses of Sterically Hindered Pyridinium Phenoxides as Model Compounds in Nonlinear Optics. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 2006 (12), 2727-2738.

(16) Bartlett, P. D.; Roha, M.; Stiles, R. M. 1,3,5-Tri-t-butylbenzene

and Some Derivatives¹. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1954**, 76 (9), 2349–2353. (17) Liu, J.; Qiu, X.; Huang, X.; Luo, X.; Zhang, C.; Wei, J.; Pan, J.; Liang, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Qin, Q.; Song, S.; Jiao, N. From alkylarenes to anilines via site-directed carbon-carbon amination. Nat. Chem. 2019, 11 (1), 71-77.

(18) (a) Thomas, A.; Anilkumar, G.; Nair, V. Photolytic double decarbonylation route to highly substituted indenes and benzene derivatives. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, 52 (7), 2481–2488. (b) Nair, V.; Menon, R. S.; Biju, A. T.; Abhilash, K. G. 1,2-Benzoquinones in Diels– Alder reactions, dipolar cycloadditions, nucleophilic additions, multicomponent reactions and more. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41 (3), 1050-1059. (c) Zhu, G.; Liu, B. Synthesis of derivatives of podocarpane-type diterpenoids through Diels-Alder cycloaddition and photo-decarbonylation from unmasked ortho-benzoquinone. Tetrahedron 2017, 73

(29), 4070–4075. (19) Sokolenko, V. A.; Svirskaya, N. M.; Kogai, T. I.; Karpova, M. S.; Pavlenko, N. I. Diadamantylation of dihydric phenols and their derivatives. Russ. J. Appl. Chem. 2008, 81 (3), 509-510.

(20) Dakin, H. D. The oxidation of hydroxy derivatives of benzaldehyde, acetophenone and related substances. Am. Chem. J. 1909, 42, 477-498.

(21) Alonso, F.; Yus, M. Easy synthesis of 2,4-dialkyl substituted phenols and anisoles from p-benzoquinone. Tetrahedron 1992, 48 (13), 2709-2714.

(22) Hansen, T. V.; Skattebøl, L. One-pot synthesis of substituted catechols from the corresponding phenols. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46 (19), 3357–3358.

(23) Ochmann, L.; Kessler, M. L.; Schreiner, P. R. Alkylphosphinites as Synthons for Stabilized Carbocations. Org. Lett. 2022, 24 (7), 1460-1464

(24) Song, L.; Zhu, G.; Liu, Y.; Liu, B.; Qin, S. Total Synthesis of Atisane-Type Diterpenoids: Application of Diels-Alder Cycloaddi-tions of Podocarpane-Type Unmasked *ortho*-Benzoquinones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2015**, 137 (42), 13706-13714.

(25) Kim, J.; Chang, S. Ammonium salts as an inexpensive and convenient nitrogen source in the Cu-catalyzed amination of aryl halides at room temperature. Chem. Commun. 2008, No. 26, 3052-3054.

(26) Schmidt, K. F. Über den Imin-Rest. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. A/B 1924, 57 (4), 704-706.

(27) Storer, R. I.; Carrera, D. E.; Ni, Y.; MacMillan, D. W. C. Enantioselective Organocatalytic Reductive Amination. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128 (1), 84-86.

6972

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.orglett.2c02780 Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968–6972

6. Appendix

6.1 List of Publications in Peer Reviewed Journals

J. M. Schümann, <u>L. Ochmann</u>, J. Becker, A. Altun, I. Harden, G. Bistoni, P. R. Schreiner, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2023**, *145*, 2093-2097.

L. Ochmann, M. Fuhrmann, F. J. Gössl, A. Makaveev, P. R. Schreiner, Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 6968-6972.

L. Ochmann, M. L. Kessler, P. R. Schreiner, Org. Lett. 2022, 24, 1460-1464.

O. Moncea, J. Casanova-Chafer, D. Poinsot, <u>L. Ochmann</u>, C. D. Mboyi, H. O. Nasrallah, E. Llobet, I. Makni, M. El Atrous, S. Brandès, Y. Rousselin, B. Domenichini, N. Nuns, A. A. Fokin, P. R. Schreiner, J.-C. Hierso, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2019**, *58*, 9933-9938.

J.-P. Berndt, F. R. Erb, L. Ochmann, J. Beppler, P. R. Schreiner, Synlett 2019, 30, 493-498.

6.2 Participation in Conferences

ESOC 2019, Vienna (poster presentation)

19. Leibniz Symposium 2018, Hannover

7. Acknowledgement

Mein großer Dank gilt Prof. Dr. Peter R. Schreiner für die Aufnahme in die Arbeitsgruppe und die Freiheit in Forschung und Lehre. Danke für das entgegengebrachte Vertrauen, die fördernden Gespräche und die Geduld.

Dr. Dominik Niedek und Dr. Jan-Philipp Berndt: Danke dafür, dass ihr damals so aufgeschlossen auf mich zugegangen seid, dafür, dass ihr immer ein Ansprechpartner und Challenger für meine Ideen gewesen seid und für euren Zuspruch, wenn euch ausnahmsweise auch mal eine Idee gefallen hat.

Danke an Dr. Frederik Erb, Markus Schauermann und Alexander Seitz, dass ihr mich auf Anhieb in eurem Labor akzeptiert habt, dass wir uns trotz Unstimmigkeiten immer auf eine Musikrichtung einigen konnten und für die Ankündigungen, wenn es gerade mal wieder frischen Kaffee gab.

Danke an Prof. Dr. Jean-Cyrille Hierso, Didier Poinsot und Dr. Clève Dionel Mboyi für die spannende Kooperation im Bereich der Hybridmaterialien.

Danke an Lina, Mika, Ronja, Michael, Aisling, Felix, Kevin und Alexander für eure tatkräftige Unterstützung und eure Ideen.

Danke an Christopher Topp und Friedemann Dressler für die Wege zum Bäcker und die Feierabendkaltgetränke während der Coronazeit.

Danke an Jan Schümann und Dr. Finn Wilming für die Auszeiten an der Dartscheibe und die Radtouren im Gießener Umland.

Danke an Kai Feuer für jede Menge Eishockey und philosophische Stunden in der Gießener Innenstadt.

Danke an Dr. Christian Eschmann für viele Feierabende voller Fußballzauber.

Danke an Jean-Marie Pohl und Dr. Fabian Stöhr für die Abstecher am UHG auf dem Nachhauseweg.

Danke an Dr. Raffael Wende, Dr. Dennis Gerbig, Dr. Jörg Neudert, Edgar Reitz und Frau Michaela Richter, dass ihr immer ein offenes Ohr für meine Anliegen hattet.

Danke an das Team der Analytik, der Chemikalienausgabe und der Glasbläserei, die mit ihrer Arbeit einen wesentlichen Anteil an den Ergebnissen haben.

Danke euch Thomas, Matthias, Tobias, Felix, Hanusch, Daniel, Paul und Carlos für die unzähligen Stunden, die wir während und außerhalb des Studiums zusammen verbracht haben, für die tollen Erinnerungen, die wir teilen, und für die noch immer andauernde Freundschaft.

Danke an Dr. Frank Pauer für das Bestärken, den Weg der Chemie einzuschlagen.

Danke Clara, dass du meine Launen während dieser gesamten Zeit ertragen hast, mich aufgebaut hast, wenn etwas nicht so lief, wie ich mir das vorgestellt habe, und dich mit mir

gefreut hast, wenn ausnahmsweise mal doch alles so lief wie gedacht. Danke, dass du immer an meiner Seite bist und mit mir durchs Leben gehst.

Danke an meine Eltern und Geschwister. Danke, dass ihr mir das alles ermöglicht habt. Danke für euer Vertrauen und eure bedingungslose Unterstützung, auch wenn es manchmal schwer wurde. Danke, dass ich jederzeit zu euch kommen kann. Danke für jeden eurer Ratschläge, die vielen Telefongespräche und noch so viel mehr.